## DETERMINATION OF THE ADJUVANT POTENTIAL OF BACILLE CALMETTE GUÉRIN WITH CULTURE DERIVED LEISHMANIA MAJOR SOLUBLE EXO-ANTIGENS<sup>1/</sup>

BY

# **KEPHA STELLA**

Reg No: I56/7100/06

A thesis submitted to the University of Nairobi, School of Biological Sciences, in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the award of degree of Master of Science

in Applied Parasitology of University of Nairobi

2009

University of NAIROBI Library

## DECLARATION

I Stella Kepha, hereby declare that this my original work and has not been presented for a degree in any other University.

Kapha

Signature

30th July 2009

Stella Kepha University of Nairobi

This thesis has been submitted with our approval as supervisors:

Signature

5th August, Date 2009

Prof Horace Ochanda (Ph.D.) Professor, School of Biological Sciences, University of Nairobi.

Signature

209

Date

Dr. Willy Kiprotich Tonui (Ph.D.) Senior Research Officer, Centre for Biotechnology Research & Development (CBRD), Kenya Medical Research Institute (KEMRI).

## DECLARATION

I Stella Kepha, hereby declare that this my original work and has not been presented for a degree in any other University.

Signature

30th 2009

Stella Kepha University of Nairobi

This thesis has been submitted with our approval as supervisors:

Signature

Sth August, Date

Prof Horace Ochanda (Ph.D.) Professor, School of Biological Sciences, University of Nairobi.

Signature

209

Date

Dr. Willy Kiprotich Tonui (Ph.D.) Senior Research Officer, Centre for Biotechnology Research & Development (CBRD), Kenya Medical Research Institute (KEMRI).

## Dedication

This thesis is dedicated to my father Kepha, my mother Grace, and my siblings Claire, Allan and Moraa. It has been a tough journey, thank you for your support morally, spiritually and materially. God bless you.

### Acknowledgement

I am indebted to God who has been so gracious, given me life, strength and wisdom. To you Father I give all the glory and honor, thank you for making this thesis become a reality.

It is my pleasure to thank the many people who made this thesis possible. I am extremely indebted to my supervisor Dr. Willy Kiprotich Tonui, Centre for Biotechnology Research and Development at the Kenya Medical Research Institute, for giving me the idea and allowing me to own it. I wish to thank him for his stimulating suggestions, encouragement, and constructive criticism throughout this study. I would never have been able to undertake such a study. Thank you *Daktari* for giving me the honor to work with you. Am grateful to you for making sure all the reagents and materials I needed were available. God richly bless you. I salute *Daktari* for inspiring me to pursue immunology God giving me the opportunity in future.

I wish to express my gratitude to Prof. Horace Ochanda of the University of Nairobi for his guidance, support and encouragement. Prof Ochanda was instrumental in shaping my research ideas and translating them to real science. He was efficient in reviewing and critiquing my work. His fatherly advice gave me strength to carry on. Thank you Prof. Ochanda for your time, always being available to push me from the mud when I felt I was stuck.

I wish to extend my appreciation to Peter Ngure of Daystar University for his guidance, direction and working with me throughout my project. Thank you Peter for the constant support through the thick and thin of this study. In addition am grateful for instilling confidence in me to strive to become a Scientist. God bless you.

I also wish to thank my fellow student Albert Kimutai of Kenyatta University, who was always ready to assist and guide me through the basics of immunology. Am grateful for your moral support even after you completed your study. I am very grateful to Johnstone Ingonga for introducing me to practical immunology, teaching me the skills and the specific standard operating procedures that I needed to complete this project. Thank you for always being ready to help.

I wish to thank Laban Ireri Njeru of Kenyatta University who was always ready to assist as he carried on with his project.

I wish to express my appreciation to the Director Kenya Medical Research Institute for providing the facilities which enabled the research to be conducted. I appreciate the assistance of the Director, Centre for Biotechnology and Research Development, Dr. Gerald Mkoji for facilitating the approval of my research project. I wish to very humbly thank the leishmaniasis laboratory staff Dr. Christopher Anjili. Robert Karanja, Josylene Kaburi, David Siele, Bernard Osero and Alphine Chebet. Am grateful to you all for welcoming me to be part of you as I worked on my project and for the moral support.

I specifically thank Milkah Mwangi for her immense help in many ways than I could mention. God bless you and guide you in your research. I also wish to thank Mrs Damaris Muhia for her constant encouragement and support.

I am highly grateful to Mr. Kellern Wafula of BD Biosciences, Dorcas Wachira and Maureen Maraka both of (Immunology Laboratory) for their great help in cytokine analysis using flow cytometry. I wish to thank the animal house staff Lucy, Lucas and others who took care of my experimental animals throughout the study.

To my fellow postgraduate classmates Dorothy Opondo and Edward Okonjo am very grateful for your assistance, meaningful discussions and support. I would also like to mention my friend Dr. Michael Mahero, thank him for his unwavering support emotionally and spiritually throughout this study.

I am highly indebted to my father Mr Kepha Mogere and mother, Mrs Grace Mogere for always being there for me, for their boundless love and being role models to me. Am grateful for making many sacrifices to make me what I am today. *Asante sana*. I wish to thank my dear siblings Claire who always motivated me and had confidence in me. Allan my beloved brother, who put a light touch to Science with his constant jokes and Moraa whose confidence in me encouraged me to complete this work in good time. To the three of you, thanks for walking the journey with me. God bless you.

This study was supported by the Academy of Sciences for the Developing World (TWAS), through a grant awarded to Dr. Willy Kiprotich Tonui.

Ta	ble	of	Con	tents

Titlei
Declaration
Dedication
Acknowledgementiv
Table of Contents
List of Figures
List of Tablesxi
Acronyms and abbreviations
Abstract
CHAPTER 1- INTRODUCTION AND LITERATURE REVIEW 1
1.1 Introduction
1.1.1 Dackground mormation
1.1.2 Global distribution of leishmaniasis
1.1.3 Epidemiology of leisnmaniasis in Kenya.
1.1.4 Actiology and clinical presentation of leishmaniasis
1.1.4.1 Visceral Leishmaniasis
1.1.4.2 Post-kala-azar dermal leishmaniasis (PKDL)
1.1.4.3 Cutaneous leishmaniasis
1.1.4.4 Mucocutaneous leishmaniasis 11
1.1.5 The biology of <i>Leishmania</i> parasites
1.1.6 Transmission of leishmaniases
1.1.6.1 Reservoir hosts of Leishmania spp
1.1.6.2 Sand flies: vectors of <i>Leishmania</i> parasite
1 1 7 Diagnosis of leishmaniases
1.1.8 Control of laishmaniases
1.1.8 Control of resemucin control
1.1.8.1 Vector and reservoir control
1.1.8.2 Chemotherapy of leishmaniases
1.1.8.2.1 Treatment of visceral leishmaniasis
1.1.8.2.2 Treatment of cutaneous leishmaniasis
1.2 Literature review 23
1.2.1 Immunity against Leichmania major in mice 23
1.2.7 Immune responses to leichmaniasis in humans 26
1.2.2 Vaccine development excinct leichmaniages
1.2.3 Vaccine development against leisnmaniases
1.2.3.1 Live Leishmania vaccines
1.2.3.1.1 Live Leishmania as a prophylactic vaccine
1.2.3.2 First generation vaccines for treatment
1.2.3.2.1 Live attenuated vaccines
1.2.3.3 Second generation vaccines
1.2.3.3.1 Recombinant and synthetic vaccines
1.2.3.3.2 Synthetic peptides

1.2.3.3.3 Non-protein antigens	33
1.2.3.3.4 Expression of immunogens in bacteria and viruses	33
1.2.3.3.5 Naked DNA vaccines	30
1.2.5.5.0 Italishiission blocking vaccines	30
1.2.4 Letsimania exercice secreted exo-antigens	30
1.2.5 Adjuvants in <i>Leisinnanta</i> vacenie development	40
1.2.6 Problem statement and justification	43
1.2.7 Null hypothesis.	45
1.2.8 Objectives	45
1.2.8.1 General objective	45
1.2.8.2 Specific objectives	45
1.2.9 Significance of the study	45
CHAPTER 2-MATERIALS AND METHODS	46
2.1 Study site	46
	10
2.2 Leisnmania major parasites and culture	46
2.3 Preparation of <i>Leishmania major</i> soluble excreted/secreted exo-antigens	46
2.4 Study design	46
2.4.1 Immunoprophylaxis of a combination of <i>Lm</i> SEAgs and BCG	47
2.4.2 Immunotherapy of a combination of <i>Lm</i> SEAgs and BCG	49
2.5 Cytokine immune responses.	49
2.5.1 Cell cultures	49
2.5.2 Colorimetric assay for cell proliferation	50
2.5.3 Measurement of cytokines	50
2.6 Limiting dilution assay for quantification of <i>L. major</i> parasite numbers	51
2.7 Determination of disease progression by measuring lesion sizes	51
2.8 Ethical and biosafety considerations	53
2.9 Statistical analyses	53
CHAPTER THREE-RESULTS	54
3.1.1 Lymphoproliferative responses of splenocyte cultures before infection with	
Leishmania major	54
3.1.2 Lymphoproliferative responses of splenocyte cultures after infection with	
Leishmania major.	56
3.1.3 Cytokine production	57
3.1.3.1 Interferon gamma production of splenocyte cultures before infection	
with Leishmania major	57
3.1.3.2 Interferon gamma production of splenocyte cultures after infection wit	th
Leishmania major	59
3.1.3.3 Interleukin-4 production before infection with <i>Leishmania major</i>	39
3.1.3.4 Interleukin-4 production after infection with <i>Leishmania major</i>	62
3.1.3.5 Interleukin-5 production before infection with Leishmania major	02

3.1.3.6 Interleukin-5 production after infection with <i>Leishmania major</i>
<ul> <li>3.1.5 Quantification of <i>L. major</i> in infected footpads of BALB/c mice vaccinated before infection with <i>L. major</i>.</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>3.2 Determination of the Immunotherapy of a combination of <i>Lm</i>SEAgs + BCG: 72</li> <li>3.2.1 Lymphoproliferative responses of splenocytes cultures a week post</li> </ul>
3.2.2 Lymphoproliferative responses of splenocyte cultures four weeks post vaccination
3.2.3 Cytokine production       76         3.2.3.1 Interferon gamma production of splenocyte cultures a week post vaccination       76
3.2.3.2 Interferon gamma production of splenocyte cultures four weeks post vaccination
<ul> <li>3.2.3.3 <i>In vitro</i> interleukin-4 production of splenocyte cultures a week after post vaccination</li></ul>
3.2.4 Results of lesion size measurements for BALB/c mice vaccinated 21 days post infection with 10 <sup>5</sup> <i>L. major</i> metacyclic promastigotes
3.2.5 Quantification of <i>L. major</i> in infected footpads of BALB/c mice vaccinated 21 days post infection
Chapter 4- DISCUSSION, CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS
4.1 Introduction
4.2 Immunoprophylaxis of combination of BCG and <i>Lm</i> SEAgs
4.3 Immunotherapeutic potential of combination of BCG and <i>LmSEAgs</i>
4.4 Conclusions
4.4 Recommendations
CHAPTER 5-REFERENCES
Appendix

## List of Figures

Figure 1: World map highlighting areas where cutaneous, visceral and mucocutaneous leishmaniasis is endemic
Figure 2: Map of Kenya showing areas where leishmaniasis is endemic
Figure 3a: Profile view of a teenage boy suffering from visceral leishmaniasis. The boy exhibits splenomegaly, distended abdomen and severe muscle wasting
Figure 3b: Cachectic Sudanese woman with visceral Leishmaniasis
Figure 4: PKDL papular lesions
Figure 5: Cutaneous leishmaniasis lesion 11
Figure 6: A patient from Bolivia with mucosal leishmaniasis
Figure 7: Life cycle of Leishmania spp 14
Figure 8: Subcutaneous infection of a BALB/c mouse on the left footpad mice with $10^5 L$ . major metacyclic promastigotes
Figure 9: An ulcerating lesion of an infected footpad (above) and measuring lesion sizes of <i>L. major</i> challenged-mice (below)
Figure 10: Progression of <i>L. major</i> infection as represented with footpad swelling in BALB/c mice of mice vaccinated twice subcutaneously with various regiments before
challenge with L. major

## List of Tables

Table 1:	Mean optical density (OD) readings (540nm) of <i>In vitro</i> proliferative responses of splenocytes before and after infection with <i>L. major</i>
Table 2:	In vitro IFN- $\gamma$ production (mean ± SE) before and after infection with L. major,
Table 3: In	<i>vitro</i> IL-4 production (mean $\pm$ SE) before and after infection with <i>L. major</i> 61
Table 4: I	<i>n vitro</i> IL-5 production (mean $\pm$ SE) before and after infection with <i>L. major</i> . 64
Table 5:	Parasite burden in the <i>L. major</i> infected footpads after vaccination with various regimes before challenge during the course of infection
Table 6:	Mean optical density (OD) readings (540 nm) of <i>in vitro</i> proliferative responses of splenocytes one week and four weeks post vaccination, of mice vaccinated after challenge with <i>L. major</i>
Table 7:	In vitro IFN- $\gamma$ production (mean ± SE) one week and four weeks after vaccination of mice challenged before vaccination
Table 8:	In vitro Interleukin-4 production (mean $\pm$ SE) one week and four weeks after vaccination of mice that were challenged before vaccination
Table 9:	Parasite burden in mice vaccinated with various regimens after challenge with <i>L. major</i> during the course of infection

## Acronyms and abbreviations

ALM	Autoclaved Leishmania major
APC	Antigen presenting cell
BCG	Bacille Calmette Guerin
СВА	Cytometric bead array
CBRD	Centre for Biotechnology Research and Development
CCIEP	Counter current immunoelectrophoresis
CD	Cluster of differentiation
CL	Cutaneous leishmaniasis
Con A	Concanavalin A
СР	Cysteine proteinase
CpG	Cytosine phosphate guanosine
DALY	Disability adjusted year
DAT	Direct agglutination test
DCL	Diffuse cutaneous leishmaniasis
DDT	Dichloro diphenyl trichloroethane
Dhfr-ts	Dihydrofolate reductase-thymidylate synthetase
DCL	Diffuse cutaneous leishmaniasis
FACS	Fluorescence activated cell sorter
DTH	Delayed type hypersensitivity
ELISA	Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay
FBS	Foetal bovine serum
GM-CSF	Granulocyte macrophage- colony stimulating factor

gp 63	63 kilo Dalton Glycoprotein
ID	Immunodiffusion
IFN-γ	Interferon-gamma
IHA	Indirect haemaglutination
IgG	Immunoglobulin G
IL	Interleukin
IL-2	Interleukin-2
IL-4	Interleukin-4
IL-5	Interleukin-5
IL-10	Interleukin-10
IL-12	Interleukin-12
ISCOMS	Immunostimulating complexes
KEMRI	Kenya Medical Research Institute
LACK	Leishmania Homologue of the mammalian Receptor for Activated C
	Kinase
LeIF	Leishmanial eukaryotic ribosomal protein
LCL	Localized cutaneous leishmaniasis
LPG	Lipophosphoglycan
<i>Lm</i> SEAgs	Leishmania major soluble exo-antigens
MCL	Mucocutaneous leishmaniasis
МНС	Major histocompatibility complex
MTT	3-(4, 5-dimethylthiazol-2yl)-2, 5-Diphenyl tetrazolium bromide
nM	Nanomolar

NLB	Nairobi Leishmania bank
ODN	Oligodeoxynucleotides
РВМС	Peripheral blood mononuclear cells
PBS	Phosphate buffered saline
pg/ml	Pico grams per millilitre
PKDL	Post Kala-azar dermal leishmaniasis
РНА	Phytohaemagglutinin
PSA	Parasite surface antigen
rIL-12	Recombinant interleukin-12
Th1	T Helper 1
Th2	T Helper 2
TNF-a	Tumour necrosis factor-alpha
μL	Microlitre
μg	Microgram
μΜ	Micromolar
Μμ	Micrometers
VL	Visceral leishmaniasis
WHO	World Health Organization

### Abstract

Leishmaniasis is one of the neglected diseases that afflicts residents of developing countries. To date, there are no proven vaccines against this disease. Previous studies have shown that *Leishmania major* soluble exo-antigens (*Lm*SEAgs) alone have the potential to confer protection to mice infected with *L. major*. There was need to investigate whether adjuvants could enhance the protective effects of the *Lm*SEAgs the subject of this thesis.

In this study, the immunoprophylatic and immunotherapeutic potential of Bacille Calmette Guerin (BCG) as an adjuvant was investigated. For immunoprophylaxis, susceptible BALB/c mice were vaccinated with *Lm*SEAgs with or without BCG on day 0 and boosted on day 13, then challenged with *L. major* metacyclic promastigotes a week later. The control group was unvaccinated. While for immunotherapy, mice were vaccinated with *Lm*SEAgs with *Lm*SEAgs with on day 35. Disease progression was determined by measuring the size of lesions and quantifying parasite burdens in *L. major* infected footpads using a limiting dilution assay. While cytokine production from splenocytes was determined by flow cytometry.

For both immunoprophylaxis and immunotherapy, mice produced significantly high levels of IFN- $\gamma$  (P < 0.05) and low levels of interleukin IL-4, (P < 0.05) compared to the unvaccinated mice. This was corroborated with reduction in lesion sizes and parasite burden compared to the controls (P < 0.05). In comparison to the group of mice treated with LmSEAgs alone or BCG alone there was no significant difference in the levels of IFN- $\gamma$  produced, lesion size reduction or parasite burdens (P > 0.05) in both immunoprophylaxis and immunotherapy.

In conclusion, the results show that BCG does not enhance the protective effect of *Lm*SEAgs. Further studies should be done to search for molecules with potential of enhancing the immunotherapeutic and immunoprophylactic effects of *Lm*SEAgs.

### **CHAPTER 1- INTRODUCTION AND LITERATURE REVIEW**

#### 1.1 Introduction

#### 1.1.1 Background information

Leishmaniases are a group of diseases that are caused by obligate intracellular and kinetoplastid protozoa that belong to the genus *Leishmania* (family Trypanosomatidae) (Roberts, 2006). The parasite is transmitted by the bite of an infected sand fly of the genus *Phlebotomus* in the old world and *Lutzomyia* in the new world (WHO, 2007).

The diseases are geographically and ecologically widespread, occurring in tropical and subtropical regions in all continents except Australia. Leishmaniasis is endemic in 88 countries (WHO, 2007). The incidence of leishmaniasis is increasing, with many endemic areas reporting a 500 fold increase over the past seven years (Salam, 2004). It is estimated that there are 2 million new cases each year with about 350 million people being at risk and 14 million people infected worldwide (Roberts, 2006; WHO, 2007).

The disease exhibits a spectrum of disease from cutaneous, mucocutaneous to visceral leishmaniasis (Roberts, 2006). Cutaneous forms of the disease normally produce skin ulcers on the exposed parts of the body such as the face, arms and legs (Desjeux, 2004; WHO, 2006). In mucocutaneous forms of leishmaniasis, lesions can lead to partial or total destruction of the mucous membranes of the nose, mouth and throat cavities and surrounding tissues (WHO, 2006). Visceral leishmaniasis (VL) also known as kala-azar is characterized by irregular bouts of fever, substantial weight loss, swelling of the spleen and liver, and anemia: if left untreated, it is fatal (Hailu *et al.*, 2005; WHO, 2006).

Currently, control strategies of leishmaniasis rely on chemotherapy to alleviate disease and on vector control to reduce transmission (Handman, 2001; Khamesipour *et al.*, 2006; Tonui and Titus, 2006). The drugs currently recommended for the treatments of leishmaniasis include the pentavalent antimonials; sodium stibogluconate (Pentostam), meglumine antimoniate (Glucantime) and amphotericin B (Guerin *et al.*, 2002). However these drugs have drawbacks such as serious side-effects, long courses of treatment, parenteral route of administration, high cost of treatment and rampant drug resistance especially of the antimonials (Guerin *et al.*, 2002; Croft *et al.*, 2006; WHO, 2006; WHO, 2007).

Leishmaniasis contributes significantly to the propagation of poverty, because treatment is expensive and hence either unaffordable or it imposes a substantial economic burden, including loss of wages (WHO, 2007). Neglected by researchers and funding agencies, leishmaniasis control strategies have varied little for decades although recently impressive advances have been made including vaccine development (Davies *et al.*, 2003).

#### 1.1.2 Global distribution of leishmaniasis

Leishmaniasis is endemic in more than 88 countries found in the Indian sub continent, south western Asia, southern Europe. Africa, and central and south America (WHO, 2007) (Figure 1). There is a remarkable increase in risk factors for leishmaniases worldwide and the disease burden is increasing (Reithinger *et al.*, 2007). This is attributed to different phenomena such as economic hardship, natural disasters, armed conflict, and tourism that cause susceptible populations to migrate to areas endemic for leishmaniasis, where exposure to infection results in noticeable epidemics (Guthmann *et al.*, 1997; Blum *et al.*, 2004; Wenia *et al.*, 2004).

Globally, there are an estimated 350 million people at risk of infection and disease, 14 million people are infected and 2 million new cases are reported each year (Reithinger *et al.*, 2007; WHO, 2007). The global burden of leishmaniasis has remained stable for some years, causing a morbidity and mortality loss of 2.4 million disability adjusted life-years (DALYs) and approximately 70,000 deaths, a significantly high rank among communicable diseases (Davies *et al.*, 2003; Reithinger *et al.*, 2007).

The global estimate for new cases of VL is 500 000 cases per year out of which 90% of the cases occur in just five countries namely Bangladesh, Brazil, India, Nepal and Sudan (Desjeux, 2004; WHO, 2007).

Cutaneous leishmaniasis (CL) occurs in more than 70 countries worldwide with 90% of the cases reported in Afghanistan, Algeria, Brazil, Islamic Republic of Iran, Peru, Saudi Arabia and Syria (Ghalib and Modabber, 2007). In addition each year, there are 1.5 million new cases (WHO, 2007).

Globally, muco-cutaneous leishmaniasis (MCL) cases are dominant in south America. especially in Brazil. Paraguay, Ecaudor, Bolivia. Peru. Colombia and Venezuela. Ninety of all cases of MCL cases occur in Bolivia. Brazil and Peru (Desjeux, 2004). In Africa, both CL and VL are endemic to countries in the north, central, east, the Horn of Africa and West Africa (Boakye *et al.*, 2005). Sudan bears the heaviest burden of the disease, as it is one of the five countries that constitute 90% of all global cases of VL (Guerin *et al.*, 2002). The highest incidence of post kala-azar dermal leishmaniasis (PDKL) a complication of VL in the world is also found in Sudan (Ghalib and Modabber, 2007). Algeria is the only African country among the eight countries that contribute 90% of worldwide cases of CL (Murray *et al.*, 2005).



Figure 1: World map highlighting areas where cutaneous, visceral and mucocutaneous leishmaniasis is endemic (Adapted from Handman, 2001).

#### 1.1.3 Epidemiology of leishmaniasis in Kenya.

In Kenya two forms of leishmaniasis are prevalent namely CL and VL (Tonui, 2006) (Figure 2). Leishmaniasis has been known to be endemic in parts of Kenya from as far back as early in the 20th century (Fendall, 1961). An outbreak of VL was first reported among King's African Rifles troops encamped north of Lake Turkana in the 1940s (Cole *et al.*, 1942). Turkana, Baringo, Kitui, West Pokot, Machakos, Meru, Keiyo and Marakwet districts have since been considered to be endemic for VL with Baringo and West Pokot being considered endemic foci (Tonui, 2006).



Figure 2: Map of Kenya showing areas where leishmaniasis is endemic Key: VL- Visceral leishmaniasis; CL- Cutaneous leishmaniasis; DCL- Diffuse cutaneous leishmaniasis

Visceral leishmaniasis in Kenya is caused by *L. donovani* transmitted by *Phlebotomus martini* and is endemic in Baringo District, Kenya. The disease occurring in Baringo has a focal distribution in the dry, hot areas below 1500 metres. In the early 1990s, three Maasai children were diagnosed with VL acquired locally in Kajiado district in the Rift Valley of Kenya. In 2001, an outbreak of VL was reported in the previously non-endemic Wajir and Mandera districts of North Eastern province Kenya where between May 2000 to August 2001, 904 patients were diagnosed with VL, with patients coming from as far as southern Somalia and southeast Ethiopia (Marlet *et al.*, 2003). Unusual rainfall patterns malnutrition and migration of a *Leishmania* infected population, seeking food security are thought to have contributed to this outbreak (Marlet *et al.*, 2003).

In Kenya CL is caused by *Leishmania major*, *L. aethiopica and L. tropica* (Mebrahtu *et al.*, 1992). *Leishmania major* transmitted by *P. duboscqi* was first reported in Kitui district in the 1990s (Mutinga *et al.*, 1994). In this country CL due to *L. major* which is transmitted by *P. duboscqi* is rare in humans, but underreporting is likely. *Phlebotomous duboscqi* is mainly found in animal burrows where it feeds on rodents which are frequently infected (Schaefer *et al.*, 1994).

Diffuse cutaneous leishmaniasis (DCL) was first described in Kenya in 1969 with three patients from the indigenous communities in Bungoma district, around the Mt. Elgon area diagnosed (Kungu *et al.*, 1972). *Leishmania aethiopica* has since been identified as the aetiological agent of DCL in Mt Elgon and rodents as the animal reservoirs (Mutinga, 1975; Sang and Chance, 1993).

Although quite a number of studies on the transmission and control of leishmaniases have been done in Kenya; the burden of the disease is still enormous. Many cases of leishmaniases still go unreported or undiagnosed hence official statistics are currently not available for determining the actual number of cases in Kenya (Tonui, 2006).

#### 1.1.4 Actiology and clinical presentation of leishmaniasis

Leishmaniasis is characterized by both diversity and complexity: it is caused by more than twenty Leishmanial species and is transmitted to humans by approximately thirty different species of phlebotomine sandflies (Chappuis *et al.*, 2007). The leishmaniases cause considerable morbidity and mortality. In man, the disease occurs in at least four major forms: namely cutaneous, diffuse cutaneous, mucocutaneous and visceral (Desjeux, 2004).

#### 1.1.4.1 Visceral Leishmaniasis

Visceral leishmaniasis is also known as kala-azar from the Hindu vernacular (Hailu *et al.*, 2005). It is a systemic disease and the most severe form of leishmaniasis that is fatal if left untreated (Desjeux, 2004; Chappuis *et al.*, 2007) (Figure 3a and 3b). *Leishmania donovani* complex is the main aetiological agent of VL (Chappuis *et al.*, 2007). In east Africa and the Indian subcontinent VL is caused by *L. donovani sensu stricto* while in Europe, north Africa, Mediterranean region and Latin America it is caused by *Leishmania infantum* (Chappuis *et al.*, 2007). On the other hand in the New World VL is caused by *L. chagasi* (Murray, 2001; Saha *et al.*, 2005). *Leishmania tropica* has been reported to produce visceral disease in immunocompromised persons (Herwaldt, 1999). *Leishmania amazonensis* is known to cause American tegumentary leishmaniasis, however there are reports of visceralization (Magill *et al.*, 1993; Herwaldt, 1999).

The classic kala-azar syndrome is exemplified by patients such as those in Sudan who are heavily infected throughout the mononuclear phagocyte system. They develop life-threatening disease after an incubation period of weeks to months; and have fever, severe cachexia, hepatosplenomegaly (splenomegaly usually predominates), pancytopenia anaemia, thrombocytopenia and leucopenia, with neutropenia, marked eosinopenia, a relative lymphocytosis and monocytosis, and hypergammaglobulinaemia (mainly IgG from polyclonal B-cell activation) with hypoalbuminaemia (Herwaldt, 1999; Desjeux, 2004; Saha *et al.*, 2005)



Figure 3a: Profile view of a teenage boy suffering from visceral leishmaniasis. The boy exhibits splenomegaly, distended abdomen and severe muscle wasting. (Adapted from WHO/TDR/Kuzoe)



Figure 3b: Cachectic Sudanese woman with visceral Leishmaniasis. (Adapted from Herwaldt, 1999).

#### 1.1.4.2 Post-kala-azar dermal leishmaniasis (PKDL)

Post-kala-azar dermal leishmaniasis (PKDL) is a complication of VL; it is characterized by a macular, maculopapular, and nodular rash in a patient who has recovered from VL and who is otherwise well (Zijlstra *et al.*, 2003) (Figure 4). The interval between treated VL and PKDL is 0–6 months in Sudan and 6 months to 3 years in India. People presenting with PKDL cases are highly infectious because the nodular lesions contain many parasites (Piscopo and Mallia, 2006) and such cases are the putative reservoir for anthroponotic VL between epidemic cycles (Zijlstra *et al.*, 2003). Most cases occur on the Indian subcontinent (India, Nepal, Bangladesh) and east Africa (Sudan, Ethiopia, Kenya), where *Leishmania donovani* is the causative parasite (Zijlstra *et al.*, 2003).



Figure 4: PKDL papular lesions (Adapted from Ziljstra et al., 2003)

### 1.1.4.3 Cutaneous leishmaniasis

Cutaneous leishmaniasis occurs both in the Old World and New World (WHO, 2007). It encompasses a broad range of severity and manifestations of infection (Herwaldt, 1999). Many species of the *Leishmania* genus can serve as etiologic agents of cutaneous disease. including L. major, L. tropica, L. aethiopica, L. infantum and L. archibaldi in Eurasia and Africa (Old world), and L. mexicana, L. venezuelensis, L. amazonensis, L. braziliensis, L. panamensis, L. chagasi L. guyanensis and L. peruviana in South America (New World). Localized cutaneous leishmaniasis (LCL) is the most common and the least drastic form of CL. The lesions are caused by L. major, L. tropica, L. aethiopica, and subspecies of L. mexicana (Murray et al., 2005). The erythema develops into a papule, then a nodule that progressively ulcerates over a period of 2 weeks to 6 months to become the lesion that is characteristic of LCL (Murray et al., 2005) (Figure 5).

The recidivans form of CL is a complication of *L. tropica* infection (Akilov *et al.*, 2007). This form is rare (incidence about 3–10%) and resembles lupus vulgaris; therefore, it is also called "lupoid leishmaniasis" or "late leishmaniasis" (Akilov *et al.*, 2007). Diffuse CL begins as a single non ulcerative nodule that grows and becomes surrounded by other similar lesions. The nodules are shiny and often slightly red; their edges are usually distinct, with normal intervening skin. This process is repeated over many years the skin over the face, limbs, and buttocks becomes covered with symmetric non-ulcerating nodules (Reithinger *et al.*, 2007). To date, all isolates from Old World cases of DCL have been strains of *L. aethiopica* (Schonian *et al.*, 2000: Akilov *et al.*, 2007). The body's immune system apparently fails to battle the protozoa, which are free to spread throughout the body (Handman, 2001).



Figure 5: Cutaneous leishmaniasis lesion (Adapted from www.pdhealth.mil)

### 1.1.4.4 Mucocutaneous leishmaniasis

Mucocutaneous leishmaniasis also known as 'espundia' causes extensive destruction of oralnasal and pharyngeal cavities with hideous disfiguring lesions, mutilation of the face and great suffering for life (WHO, 2007). Although mostly related to *Leishmania* species of the New World (America) such as *L. braziliensis L. guyanensis* and *L. peruviana* it has been also reported in the Old World (Africa, Asia and Europe) due to *L. donovani, L. major* in immmuno-suppressed patients (Desjeux, 2004) (Figure 6).





## 1.1.5 The biology of Leishmania parasites

Leishmaniasis is a parasitic infection caused by the obligate, intracellular protozoan of the genus *Leishmania* (family Trypanosomatidae) under the kingdom Prostista and phylum Euglenoza (Singh, 2006). The parasite has a digenetic life cycle with an extra cellular developmental stage in the insect vector, a female phlebotomine sandfly, and a developmental stage in mammals, which is mostly intracellular (Roberts, 2006).

The invertebrate hosts or vectors are small insects of the order Diptera, belonging to the subfamily Phlebotominae and are commonly called phlebotomine sand flies (Banuls *et al.*, 2007). The female needs a blood meal for egg development and only the female is haematophagous (Roberts, 2006; Banuls *et al.*, 2007). When a sandfly feeds on an infected host during a blood meal the fly ingests parasitized macrophages which are then released into the gut (Roberts, 2006).

The first developmental event in the sandfly is the transformation of amastigotes to procyclic promastigotes. This transformation of amastigotes to promastigotes starts within hours of ingestion of the amastigotes (either free or intracellular) and occurs exclusively in the gut (Singh, 2006). The main difference of promastigotes from amastigotes is that the cell body is elongated. in the range of 8-15  $\mu$ m, the flagellum emerges from the cell body, and is functional, making these cells motile (Roberts, 2006). By the time the sandfly takes a new blood meal, the metacyclics will have affected the feeding mechanism of the sandfly in such a way that they cause regurgitation of midgut content containing the parasites, into the feeding wound this is a survival mechanism that ensures efficient transmission to the vertebrate host (Rogers *et al.*, 2002).

The developmental cycle in the vertebrate host is initiated by the interaction of metacyclic promastigotes with skin macrophages. After uptake and internalization of metacyclic promastigotes in a phagolysosome, fusion with lysosomes proceeds as normal and the parasite inhabits a secondary lysosome or phagolysosome (Bates, 1993). During this process the metacyclic promastigote transforms into an amastigote within 12-24 h and continues to grow and divide within the phagolysosomal compartment. The amastigotes have to overcome two environmental challenges: the battery of lysosomal enzymes and low pH (4.5-5.5) (Zilberstein and Shapira, 1994). Low pH is not a problem as amastigotes seem to be acidophiles: they are metabolically more active at low pH (Singh, 2006). With this adaptation the parasite is able to survive and multiply inside the macrophages, eventually leading to the lysis of the macrophages. The released amastigotes are taken up by additional macrophages and so the cycle continues. Ultimately all the organs containing macrophages and phagocytes are infected, especially the spleen, liver and bone marrow. The complete life cycle of the *Leishmania* parasite is summarized in the Figure 7 below.



Figure 7: Life cycle of Leishmania spp (Adapted from Sacks and Noben-Trauth., 2003)

### 1.1.6 Transmission of leishmaniases.

## 1.1.6.1 Reservoir hosts of Leishmania spp

Primary reservoir hosts of leishmaniasis are responsible for the long-term maintenance of the infectious agents and are basically mammals (Saliba and Omenish, 1999). Other types of hosts which play a secondary role as reservoirs include the incidental hosts and the liaison hosts (Saliba and Omenish, 1999). The mammalian hosts belong to different phylogenetic groups such as rodents, sloths, primate, and carnivores. Leishmaniasis is primarily a zoonotic disease in which wild and domestic animals such as the fox, jackal, and wolves serve as reservoir hosts (Arias *et al.*, 1996).

Of all the potential animal hosts, domestic dogs by far play the most important role in harboring and transmitting the disease to humans due to the close association between humans and dogs as pets (Arias *et al*, 1996). In anthroponotic VL due to *L. donovani* such as in India and Sudan, Man is the principal reservoir host (Ghalib and Modabber, 2007). Asymptomatic carriers and PKDL patients are a particular source of infection for sandflies (Ziljstra *et al.*, 2003).

#### 1.1.6.2 Sand flies: vectors of *Leishmania* parasite

The only proven vector of the *Leishmania* parasite is the blood-sucking female phlebotomine sand flies of the genus *Phlebotomus* in the Old World and *Lutzomyia* in the New World (Murray *et al.*, 2005; Kato *et al.*, 2007). The insects are 2-3 mm long and are found throughout the tropical and temperate parts of the world. Only 30 or so of the over 500 species of Phlebotomine sandflies are known to transmit *Leishmania* parasites, these include *P. argentipes* on the Indian sub-continent, *P. duboscqi, P. martini* and *P.orientalis* in Africa and the Mediterranean basin, *P. chinensis* and *P. alexandri* in china. In the new world *L. longipalpis* is the only known vector of *L. chagasi* (Murray *et al.*, 2005; WHO, 2007).

#### 1.1.7 Diagnosis of leishmaniases

The clinical signs and symptoms and epidemiological manifestations are not pathognomic of VL or CL (Singh, 2006). They can mimic several other conditions like; in the case of kalaazar it may be confused with other similar conditions such as malaria, tropical splenomegaly, schistosomiasis cirrhosis lymphoma or leukemia hence a laboratory diagnosis is necessary to confirm the clinical suspicions (Singh, 2006).

The gold standard and confirmatory diagnosis of leishmaniasis relies on either the microscopical demonstration of *Leishmania* amastigotes in the relevant tissues aspirates or biopsies such as bone marrow, spleen, lymph nodes, liver or skin slit smears or biopsies or in the peripheral blood buffy coat (Liarte *et al.*, 2001; Singh and Sivakumar, 2003; Singh, 2006). However there are various diagnostic tools used for each leishmanial syndrome.

*Leishmania* DNA can also be detected in tissue aspirates and peripheral blood using polymerase chain reaction (PCR) (Singh. 2006). Polymerase chain reaction has been used for clinical diagnosis albeit limited to tertiary care hospitals and research laboratories (Conjivaram, 2002; Singh, 2006). Amongst the molecular methods used for clinical diagnosis, PCR has been proven to be the most sensitive and specific technique. Bone marrow, lymph node aspirates, skin biopsy, skin scrape/exudates and blood samples have been used for PCR in several studies (Liarte *et al.*, 2001).

Exploiting the host-parasite interaction, for the diagnosis of visceral leishmaniasis a number of antibody detection methods have been developed from time to time. Some of these tests include indirect haemagglutination (IHA), counter current immunoelectrophoresis (CCIEP), immunodiffusion (ID) and several others (Boelaert *et al.*, 2004). These tests are cumbersome and lack sensitivity and specificity. Antibody detection is poorly sensitive owing to the lack of significant antibody production in cutaneous leishmaniasis (Singh, 2006).

In other places such as Africa and Iran, serum antileishmanial immunoglobulin G (IgG) in high titre is the diagnostic standard, primarily with direct agglutination test (DAT) (Zijlstra and El-Hassan, 2001). The direct agglutination test, in which serum antibodies agglutinate stained parasite is popular in Iran and Africa (Conjivaram, 2002).

Delayed hypersensitivity is an important feature of cutaneous forms of human leishmaniasis and can be measured by the leishmanin test reaction (Singh, 2006). Enzyme linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) is a valuable tool and one of the most sensitive tests for the serodiagnosis of visceral leishmaniasis. The test is useful for laboratory analysis or field applications and to screen a large number of samples at a rapid pace (Ryan *et al.*, 2002; Singh, 2006).

#### 1.1.8 Control of leishmaniases

Leishmaniasis is one of the most neglected tropical diseases, in terms of the few tools available for control and the lack of clear criteria for methods of control (WHO, 2006). The diversity of epidemiological situations of leishmaniasis poses a challenge for any single diagnosis, treatment or control measure to be suitable for all (Guerin *et al.*, 2002). Current control measures rely on chemotherapy to alleviate disease and on vector control to reduce transmission (Handman, 2001; Guerin *et al.*, 2002).

#### 1.1.8.1 Vector and reservoir control

Vector control may be feasible for domestic and para domestic however in sylvatic leishmaniasis vector control has not been successful (Feliciangeli *et al.*, 2003; Maroli and Khoury. 2006; Chappuis *et al.*, 2007). Where sandflies are endophagic (mainly feed indoors) and most active when people are asleep, bed nets provide considerable protection (Davies *et al.*, 2003). Protection provided by wide mesh nets is enhanced by treating them with pyrethroids reducing sandfly biting. This is a potent strategy where leishmaniasis is anthroponotic as is the case of *L. tropica* where the main aim is to block transmission (Davis *et al.*, 2003). However where transmission is anthroponotic the best control strategy is chemical and environmental so as to interrupt man-vector contact (Kishore *et al.*, 2006).

Spraying houses with insecticide is the most widely used intervention for controlling sandflies that are endophilic (Davies *et al.*, 2003). Indoor residual spraying is a simple and cost-effective method of controlling vector. The insecticide of choice still remains dichlorodiphenyl-trichloroethane (DDT) because of its low cost, high efficacy, long residual action and relative safety when used for indoor residual spray (Kishore *et al.*, 2006). Vector control using insecticides is possible because sandflies are still very sensitive to insecticides (Desjeux, 2004).

Environmental control is based on making the environment inhabitable to the vector, with an ultimate aim of breaking the parasite cycle. Sandflies breed in dark corners as well as in the crevices of the walls having rich humus and moisture. In the former Union of Soviet Socialist Republic (USSR) leishmaniasis was successfully controlled by destroying rodent burrows (Kishore *et al.*, 2006). In another study, it was demonstrated that filling all the cracks and

crevices of walls on which are sandfly rest using mud and lime. The breeding of sandflies could be stopped successfully (Kumar *et al.*, 1995). Lime has a powerful water absorbing capacity which makes it unsuitable for the sandfly breeding (Kishore *et al.*, 2006).

Personal protection such as the use of chemical repellents applied to skin and wearing of protective clothing is the most important preventive measure for human protection against haematophagus arthropods (Davies *et al.*, 2003). In areas where the transmission of leishmaniasis is extra-domiciliary, use of insect repellents or protective clothing may be the only preventative measure available (Maroli and Khoury, 2006).

In Latin America, the Mediterranean basin, central and south western Asia where VL is primarily zoonotic, transmission to human beings is reduced by targeting the animal reservoir as a feasible strategy (Davies *et al.*, 2003). In China, this strategy has been effective however not so in Brazil, where it has not been effective because of incomplete coverage; delays between taking blood samples, diagnosis and culling; and the high dog population turnover rate (Courtenay *et al.*, 2002). Therefore to circumvent these shortcomings alternative control strategies such as dipping dogs in insecticide, applying topical insecticide lotions and the use of deltamethrin treated collars are novel strategies that can substantially reduce sandfly bites on dogs and subsequent human infection (Davies *et al.*, 2003).

Studies suggest that there is a decrease in human prevalence of disease when seropositive dogs are removed, however such control should be combined with vector control and human case treatment (Saliba and Omenish, 1999).

### 1.1.8.2 Chemotherapy of leishmaniases

Pentavalent antimonials are the first line of drugs for the treatment of visceral and cutaneous leishmaniasis except in Bihar India where visceral leishmaniasis is highest, because of resistance (Guerin *et al.*, 2002). Current treatments require long courses and parenteral administration and most are expensive (Croft *et al.*, 2006; WHO, 2007).

#### 1.1.8.2.1 Treatment of visceral leishmaniasis

The therapy against VL is limited; the available agents with established efficacy are all injectable (Guerin *et al.*, 2002). In addition to specific anti-leishmanial treatment of VL relies on the aggressive management of any concomitant bacterial or parasitic infections, anaemia, hypovolemia (decreased blood volume) and malnutrition (Chappius *et al.*, 2007).

For many decades, the treatment of VL has been based on pentavalent antimonials which are the first line of treatment, such as sodium stibogluconate (Pentostam) or meglumine antimoniate (Glucantime), given intramuscularly or intravenously for one month (Hailu *et al.*, 2005; Croft *et al.*, 2006). In addition cheaper generic forms of these drugs are available and have been shown to be equally effective as the branded products (Chappuis *et al.*, 2007).

Antimonials are toxic drugs with sometimes life-threatening adverse side effects, including cardiac arrhythmia and acute pancreatitis. Patients under the age of two or aged forty five and above with signs of advanced disease and/or severe malnutrition are at higher risk of death during antimonial therapy owing to drug toxicity, slowness of drug action. VL complications or a combination of these factors (Chappuis *et al.*, 2007). Of major concern is the development of resistance to anitimonials. A case in point is in northeastern India, where the
incidence of visceral leishmaniasis is highest, due to resistance to antimonial drugs, the mainstay of treatment can no longer be used (Reithinger *et al.*, 2007).

Amphotericin B is the current alternative treatment of choice. This drug is highly efficacious but is associated with serious side effects and can only be given in a hospital setting (Hailu *et al.*, 2005). Its drawbacks are cost, limited availability in some areas and toxicity notably infusion-related side-effects (fever, chills, and bone pain) and hypocalcaemia, renal impairment, and anemia. These problems are generally tolerable at the doses used in Bihar, where conventional amphotericin B is now the first-line drug in kala-azar treatment centres (Guerin *et al.*, 2002).

Paromomycin (aminosidine) is an old aminoglycoside antibiotic with unique antileishmanial activity. It acts synergistically with antimony in vitro. The results from initial studies in India and Africa were promising (Chappuis *et al.*, 2007). The drug is effective, well tolerated, and as cheap as conventional amphotericin B, but it must be administered parenterally. Paromomycin was registered in India in August 2006 (Croft *et al.*, 2006). In east Africa, paromomycin is currently being evaluated in mono and combination (with sodium stibogluconate) therapy. Another advantage of paromomycin is the fact that it is active against a wide variety of pathogens, including bacteria (Chappuis *et al.*, 2007).

Miltefosine, an alkylphospholipid that was originally developed as an oral antineoplastic agent, is the first effective oral drug and is the most advanced drug in *Leishmania* drug development (Guerin *et al.*, 2002; Chappuis *et al.*, 2007).

# 1.1.8.2.2 Treatment of cutaneous leishmaniasis

Cutaneous Leishmaniasis often heals spontaneously within 1 week to 3 years, usually within 1 year, however this varies with the strain of *Leishmania* involved. Ninety percent of patients of Old World cutaneous leishmaniasis heal spontaneously within 3–18 months (Davies *et al.*, 2003). In New World CL, self-healing after 3 months is rapid in *L. mexicana* (75%) but slow in *L. braziliensis* (about 10%) and *L. panamensis* infections (about 35%) (Soto *et al.*, 2004). Although not fatal, CL is treated to accelerate cure thereby reducing scarring. especially in cosmetic sites and to prevent parasite dissemination (i.e. mucosal leishmaniasis) or relapse (Reithinger *et al.*, 2007).

Major emphasis has been placed on topical application of Paromycin. In the Old World Paromycin preparation has shown improvement in the protozoal clearing in patients with CL caused by *L. major* in Israel. However, Paromycin-ointment was shown to be ineffective against *L. tropica* in Turkey and *L. major* in several randomized, placebo-controlled trials in the Sudan, Tunisia, and Iran. Thus the effectiveness of paromomycin remains controversial. In the New World topical treatment of *L. braziliensis* is not advisable as dissemination to mucocutaneous disease can occur. Major concern about the use of local therapy is that it does not cure lymph node infection or protect against mucosal disease if metastasis has already started (Moskowitz and Kurban, 1999).

Reithinger in (2007) reviewed currently available data and concluded that for cutaneous leishmaniasis, pentavalent antimony, given parenterally or intralesionally, remains the first-line treatment approach. Apart from the immunotherapy policy in Venezuela Convit (1996) and the pentamidine treatment policies in French Guyana and Suriname, Roussel (2006) WHO recommends treating cutaneous leishmaniasis with pentavalent antimonial drugs (i.e.

sodium stibogluconate or meglumine antimonate) at 20 mg/kg per day for 20–28 consecutive days. Barring one exception, this regimen has been shown to be more efficient than a daily dose of 10 mg/kg, 13 mg/kg, or 15 mg/kg in treating LCL (Berman, 1997; Moskowitz and Kurban, 1999; Reithinger *et al.*, 2007). Alternative treatment regimens include amphotericin B, especially for mucosal leishmaniasis (Davies *et al.*, 2003).

# 1.2 Literature review

#### 1.2.1 Immunity against Leishmania major in mice

The most frequently studied model for leishmaniasis by far is that of *L. major* (Noben – Trauth. 2000; Garg and Dube, 2006). Although not perfect, the spectrum of disease manifestations observed in human leishmaniasis can be mimicked in the laboratory by infection of inbred strains of mice with *L. major* (Handman, 2001). Studies to elucidate the immunologic pathways responsible for resistance or susceptibility to *L. major* in the murine model have given rise to the identification of the T-helper 1/T-helper 2 (Th1/Th2) dichotomy in the development of the immune response (Roberts, 2006). The subdivision of CD4<sup>+</sup> cells into Th1 and Th2 is based on the pattern of cytokines the cells produce (Handman, 2001).

Immunity to cutaneous leishmaniasis is a well studied subject, in which mice are the commonly used models. It has been established that *L. major* infection of inbred mice leads to a major dichotomous response death or survival that depends on the strain of mice (Campos-Neto, 2005). Inbred strains of mice experimentally infected with *L. major* have been classified as genetically resistant or susceptible on the basis of their ability to mount an effective immune response to the parasite (Nabors *et al.*, 1994). This mouse model has been subsequently used to demonstrate that susceptibility of BALB/c mice was caused by Th2 response to the parasite in contrast to the protective Th1 responses in the engineered resistant

inbred strains of mice such as C57BL/6, C3H and CBA (Fowell *et al.*, 1997). This view is supported by classical experiments which established that T-cell deficient mice rapidly succumb to inoculation with any one of several species of *Leishmania*, and that transfer of normal T cells confers resistance to the animals (Preston and Dumonde, 1976; Scott *et al.*, 1988; Campos-Neto, 2005).

Healing responses in the susceptible breeds such as BALB/c are known to be dependent on the expansion of IFN- $\gamma$  producing CD4+ Th I helper T cells which contribute to the control of the primary infection (Noben-Trauth *et al.*, 2003). Interferon gamma can activate macrophages to kill a number of intracellular parasites including *L. major* and acts to perpetuate Th I responses by suppressing the development and proliferation of Th2 cells (Renier and Locksley, 1995). Susceptibility to *L. major* resulting in uncontrolled, non healing infections are associated with the proliferation of Th2 cells and the production of IL-4, IL-5, resulting in an ineffective anti-parasitic response (Nabors *et al.*, 1994; Mahmoodi *et al.*, 2005). There is new evidence that IL-10 is an additional factor controlling susceptibility to *L. major* in BALB/c (Noben-Trauth *et al.*, 2003).

In experimental infection of inbred mice with *L. major*, activation of two distinct CD4+ T helper cell subsets, Th1 and Th2, have been described. Resistant mice such as C57BL/6 and C3H when infected with *L. major*, resolution of infection is associated with expansion of Th1 cells that produces IFN- $\gamma$ , IL-2 and IL-12 (Tonui *et al.*, 2004). In contrast, other strains of mice, notably BALB/c, develop severe and uncontrolled lesions following infection with *L. major* (DeKrey *et al.*, 1998). In this strain of mice, disease progression is associated with expansion of Th2 subset that secretes IL-4, IL-5, IL-10 and IL-13 (Mahmoodi *et al.*, 2005).

*Leishmania* amastigotes reside in phagolysosomes inside macrophages. For the host to be able to control *Leishmania* parasites, infected macrophages need to be activated to induce parasite killing through the production of reactive oxygen intermediates and nitric oxide (Serarslan and Atik, 2005). Several Th1 type cytokines (IFN- $\gamma$ , TNF- $\alpha$ ) are strong inducers of the macrophage enzyme inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS) that produce nitric oxide (Serarslan and Atik, 2005). Inbred strains of mice such as C57BL/6, C3H and CBA/N produce Th1 cytokine profiles and consequently are resistant to infection by *L. major* (Noben-Trauth *et al.*, 2003). They develop small lesions which resolve in 10 to 12 weeks and are resistant to re-infection (Preston and Dumonde, 1976; Garg and Dube, 2006). On the other hand, BALB/c mice are highly susceptible; they mount a Th2 mediated immune response. Because macrophages are not activated to kill intracellular amastigotes, they develop severe and uncontrolled skin ulcers, which expand and metastasize; leading to death (De Krey *et al.*, 1998). Most other strains of mice are intermediate in susceptibility (Preston and Dumonde, 1976).

There are two other mechanisms of intracellular killing that have been proposed involving destruction of infected macrophages by cytotoxic T lymphocytes (CTL) (Muller *et al.*, 1991) and Fas Ligand (Fas-L)-mediated macrophage apoptosis (Huang *et al.*, 1998). In addition studies have suggested that susceptibility and resistance to *Leishmania* infection is associated with the emergence of a unique subset of T cells, namely T regulatory cells (T reg) (Belkaid *et al.*, 2002).

# 1.2.2 Immune responses to leishmaniasis in humans

The immune response of humans to infection with Leishmania is not as well characterized as the response of mice (Rogers and Titus, 2004). Much of the research with human leishmaniasis has involved the use of infected or recovered patients. Cutaneous leishmaniasis often heals spontaneously with one or a few skin lesions, which leave a depressive scar (Ajdary et al., 2000). Resolution is characterized by induction of specific IFN-y releasing CD4+ T cells (Kemp et al., 1994). Failure to cure disease is associated with elevated IL-4 with low IFN-y responses from Leishmania specific CD-4+ T cells. Patients with VL usually demonstrate anergy with negative skin test to Leishmania antigens (Roberts, 2006). Peripheral blood mononuclear cells from such individuals fail to proliferate or to produce IFN- $\gamma$  when exposed to specific antigen *in vitro* (Ghalib *et al.*, 1993). Addition of anti-IL-10R antibody to T cells harvested from these patients restores cytokine responses, indicating a role for IL-10 in suppressing T-cell responses in active disease (Ghalib et al., 1993). It is well known that IFN-y induces microbicidal activity against both the promastigote and amastigote of L. donovani in monocyte derived human macrophages, in hydrogen peroxide dependent as well as in NO mediated pathway (Saha et al., 2005). Therefore, the reason why high parasite burden is favored in active VL patients can be explained by the deficiency of IFN-y during disease. On the potential source of immunoregulatory cytokines investigators have found a population of antigen specific T cells co-producing IL-10 and IFN-y which expand response to L. donovani infection in humans (Kemp et al., 1999).

#### 1.2.3 Vaccine development against leishmaniases

There are no vaccines against leishmaniasis to date. However, there is consensus that vaccines ought to become a major tool in the control of leishmaniasis in the long term (Handman, 2001; Piscopo and Mallia, 2006). The rationale for leishmaniasis vaccine development lies in the simple nature of the parasite lifecycle and the fact that healing and

recovery protects individuals from reinfection indicating that it should be possible to develop a vaccine against leishmaniasis (Selvapandinyan *et al.*, 2006). The extensive knowledge that has been gathered from animal models has shown that protection against live challenge could be achieved using parasite-specific proteins or DNA (Chappuis *et al.*, 2007; Reithinger, 2007).

The completion of sequencing of *L. major* genome has added momentum to attempts to identify the genes that are responsible for resistance or susceptibility to leishmaniasis (Ivens *et al.*, 2005 Reithinger, 2007).

In general, the leishmaniasis vaccines in development can be divided into three categories: (*i*) Live *Leishmania*; including new genetically modified constructs; (*ii*) First generation vaccines (FGV) consisting fractions of the parasite or whole killed *Leishmania* with or without adjuvants (*iii*) Second generation vaccines (SGV) including all defined vaccines, *i.e.*, recombinant proteins, DNA vaccines and combinations thereof (Khamesipour *et al.*, 2006; Ghalib and Modabber, 2007).

Several vaccine preparations are in more or less advanced stages of testing they include, use of whole lysate, killed, avirulent or irradiated parasites (Handman, 2001; Requena *et al* 2004; Ghalib and Modabber, 2007). The newer vaccines under consideration comprise recombinant DNA-derived antigens and peptides. Some of the target antigens are species and life cycle stage specific, while others are shared by promastigotes and amastigotes. Most of these strategies have shown some degree of effectiveness in animal models but little or no protection in humans (Requena *et al.*, 2004).

## 1.2.3.1 Live Leishmania vaccines

# 1.2.3.1.1 Live *Leishmania* as a prophylactic vaccine

For prophylaxis, live virulent *L. major* is the best vaccine against human cutaneous leishmaniasis (Ghalib and Moddaber, 2007). It has been used for centuries, by inoculating material from exudates of an active lesion into a covered part of the body (Khamesipour *et al.*, 2005). Inoculation of live virulent *Leishmania* became known as leishmanization (LZ) has been used for over 60 years in several countries (Khamesipour *et al.*, 2005). Bedouin or some Kurdistani tribal societies traditionally expose their babies' bottoms to sand fly bites in order to protect them from facial lesions (Khamesipour *et al.*, 2006).

Another ancient technique practiced in the Middle East has been the use of a thorn to transfer infectious material from lesions to uninfected individuals. In more recent years in Iran, Israel and Uzbekistan, leishmanization has been performed by inoculating cultured *L. major* (Khamesipour *et al.*, 2005).

Leishmanization has many setbacks such as, the difficulty with cultured promastigotes is the loss of virulence of parasites after several *in vitro* passages, areas. In addition there is reported immunosuppression as seen by reduced responsiveness to diphtheria, pertussis, and tetanus (DPT) vaccine in children following LZ (Khamesipour *et al.*, 2005). In addition, *Leishmania* parasites are believed to persist for a long time, as a result, leishmanization cannot be used on a large scale or in HIV endemic areas (Ghalib and Modabber, 2007).

At present there is only one prophylactic live vaccine in use which is a mixture of live virulent *L. major* mixed with killed parasite registered in Uzbekistan (Khamesipour *et al.*, 2006; Noazin *et al.*, 2008).

# 1.2.3.2 First generation vaccines for treatment

The first generation vaccines have not been efficient for prophylaxis (Khamesipour *et al.*, 2006). Various killed parasites have been tested for decades with or without different adjuvants. The earliest trials with killed *Leishmania* as a vaccine were conducted in Brazil in the 1940s. Later, from 1970s onwards Mayrink and colleagues developed a killed vaccine composed of five isolates of *Leishmania* containing four different species which was later simplified to a single *L. amazonensis* vaccine and tested for prophylactic potential in Columbia and Ecuador and as an adjunct to chemotherapy in Brazil (Modabber, 1995; Genaro *et al.*, 1996).

In Venezuela, Convit *et al.* (1989) used a combination of autoclaved *L. mexicana or L. braziliensis* promastigotes and *M. bovis* BCG either prophylactically, immunotherapeutically and/or immunochemotherapeutically against South American leishmaniasis (Castes *et al.*, 1989). Cure was associated with the development of Th-1 type of immune responces in the recipients with production of IFN- $\gamma$  (Cabera *et al.*, 2000). In the monkey model of CL, protective immunity was achieved using killed *L. amazonensis* co-administered with recombinant IL-12 as adjuvant while another study using *L. major* with recombinant human IL-12 resulted in a skewed Th1 immune response but did not protect the primates against challenge infection with the parasite (Kenney *et al.*, 1999; Gicheru *et al.*, 2001).

#### 1.2.3.2.1 Live attenuated vaccines

Discovery of new knowledge of *Leishmania* genome and the ability to manipulate it by introducing or eliminating genes have the potential to make live-attenuated vaccines a reality. The objective of live-attenuated vaccine is to expose the recipient to complex antigens in the right context over time without producing pathology (Selvapandiyan *et al.*, 2006). Using gene-targeting tools, it is now possible to generate parasites lacking genes essential for long-term survival in the mammalian host, such as the gene encoding the enzyme dihydrofolate reductase-thymidylate synthetase (*dhfr-ts*) (Titus *et al.*, 1995). In a mouse model, *L. major* parasites lacking *dhfr-ts* induced protection against *L. major* and *L. amazonensis* but no protection was conferred to Rhesus monkeys (Titus *et al.*, 1995; Veras *et al.*, 1999; Amaral *et al.*, 2002).

Other genetically engineered and tested mutant parasites include the null mutants for the glucose transporter gene family in *L. mexicana* that exhibited reduced infectivity to BALB/c mouse macrophages, demonstrating that a single gene deletion can render a parasite virulent (Burchmore *et al.*, 2003). Additionally, although *L. major* mutants deficient for leishmanolysin genes showed normal development in macrophages *in vitro*, they showed delayed lesion development in susceptible BALB/c mice (Joshi *et al.*, 1998, 2002). *Leishmania major* mutants that lack LPG1 (the gene encoding a galactofuranosyl transferase) showed attenuated virulence in mice whereas the parasites that lacked LPG2 (the gene encoding a golgi GDP-mannose transporter) persisted indefinitely at low level in mice without displaying disease and provided protection from virulent *L. major* challenge (Spath *et al.*, 2003; Uzonna *et al.*, 2004). Such protection from virulent challenges in mice has also been achieved after gene knockout for other genes: cysteine protease in *L. mexicana* and biopterin transporter in *L. donovani* (Alexander *et al.*, 1998; Papadopoulou *et al.*, 2002).

Attempts to develop avirulent parasites as vaccine candidates against leishmaniasis by irradiation, temperature sensitive mutations or random mutations induced by chemical agents has been hampered by reversion to virulence (Selvapandiyan *et al.*, 2006). These challenges can be met with the use of live attenuated strains which posses genetically defined mutations, can persist in the host without being virulent, have less chance of reversion to the virulent phenotype and can be produced in large quantities.

# 1.2.3.3 Second generation vaccines

#### 1.2.3.3.1 Recombinant and synthetic vaccines

Newer vaccines under consideration for leishmaniasis comprise recombinant DNA-derived antigens and peptides (Handman, 2001; Khamesipour *et al.*, 2006). Some of the target antigens are species and life cycle stage specific while others are shared by promastigotes and amastigotes. Some are conserved among *Leishmania* species, while others are not. Since T cells usually recognize peptides derived from cytosolic proteins bound in the major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class I groove or peptides derived from the lysosomal compartment bound in the MHC class II groove on the antigen-presenting cell (APC) surface, all parasite proteins can function as antigens regardless of their location in the parasite (Handman, 2001).

Recombinant antigens can be delivered as purified proteins, as the naked DNA encoding them, or as bacteria manufacturing proteins *in situ*. Manipulations now allow targeting of the antigen to specific locations or to particular APCs, such as dendritic cells or langerhans cells, which are considered essential for the initiation of primary T-cell responses. Injection of bacteria or naked DNA may have the added advantage of providing adjuvant effect, which may "activate" or "licence" these APCs (Matzinger, 1998; Handman, 2001).

## 1.2.3.3.2 Synthetic peptides

In the early eighties there was much enthusiasm on the use of synthetic peptides and especially those with T-cell epitopes as vaccine candidates against leishmaniasis. In recent times however, this seems to have waned and focus has shifted to the use of recombinant DNA-produced polypeptides and to naked DNA (Handman, 2001; Khamesipour *et al.*, 2006).

Data obtained from experimental studies has provided evidence that a single subcutaneous injection of a single synthetic T cell epitope is sufficient to provide long-lasting protection against highly virulent strains of *L. major* in BALB/c mice (Spitzer *et al.*, 1999). In another study the results showed that a single immunization with the peptide/adjuvant preparation was highly effective in protection of mice against both strains of *L. major* for at least ten months (Spitzer *et al.*, 1999).

Several considerations make the peptide antigens less attractive. These include the magnitude of the T-cell memory induction, the inability of all individuals in the population to respond to the peptide and the economics of production. Some polypeptides such as PSA-2 need to be in their native conformation for antigen processing to take place, a requirement that may not be fulfilled by *Eschericia coli*-derived recombinant proteins (Handman, 2001). In addition, most synthetic peptides require delivery systems such as adjuvants but most effective adjuvants generally cause strong inflammation which although necessary for adjuvanticity, may preclude their use in humans owing to unacceptable side effects (Howard, 1993; Handman, 2001).

#### 1.2.3.3.3 Non-protein antigens

Early studies on vaccine development demonstrated that glycolipids such as the *Leishmania* lipophosphoglycan (LPG) provided excellent protection. However, protection was shown to rely on the use of adjuvants such as liposomes or *C. parvum* and on the integrity of the molecule (Russel and Alexander, 1988). In other studies, the water-soluble LPG lacking the glycophosphatidylinositol (GPI) anchor not only proved non protective, but it also exacerbated disease (Mitchell and Handman, 1986; Handman, 2001). It is accepted that many novel and interesting microbial antigens including mycobacterial glycolipids can be recognized by T cells and that these antigens are presented to T cells by a special subset of MHC class I proteins known as CD1 (Sjölander *et al.*, 1998).

# 1.2.3.3.4 Expression of immunogens in bacteria and viruses

The encoding for the protein portion of the *Leishmania* surface glycoprotein (gp63) or leishmaniolysin was the first *Leishmania* vaccine delivered as a plasmid (Xu and Liew, 1994). Leishmaniolysin is a membrane protease present in promastigotes of all species and is one of the parasite receptors for host macrophages such that parasite mutants lacking the protein are avirulent, belongs to a multigene family, with different members being expressed in promastigotes and amastigotes (Chang *et al.*, 1990; Handman, 2001).

Overall, gp63 is still considered a promising vaccine candidate the gene has been engineered in a number of delivery systems including BCG, vaccinia virus and *Salmonella typhimurium* with an aim of inducing the appropriate Th1 immune response (Handman, 2001). The protective efficacy of purified gp63 has been tested in several experimental models using different strains and adjuvants, giving rise to conflicting results (Khamesipour *et al.*, 2006). Interestingly, both the recombinant and native proteins seem to protect better against infection with *L. amazonensis* than against infection with *L. major*, suggesting species-specific epitopes, in animal models (Russsell and Alexander, 1988; Olobo *et al.*, 1995).

Parasite surface antigen 2 (PSA-2) or gp46/M2, a membrane antigen of unknown function is another vaccine candidate that has been tested in animal models. This antigen belongs to a family of glycoinositol phospholipids anchored glycoproteins expressed in both promastigotes and amastigotes of all *Leishmania* species except *L. braziliensis* (Handman *et al.*, 1995; Handman, 2001).

It has been demonstrated that while vaccination with native PSA-2 with *C. parvum* as adjuvant protects mice against *Leishmania* through a Th1 mediated response, the recombinant PSA-2 purified from *Eschericia coli* and administered in immunostimulating complexes (ISCOMs) or mixed with *C. parvum* as adjuvant, does not induce protective immunity despite induction of Th1 responses (Sjölander *et al.*, 1998; Khamesipour *et al.*, 2006).

The Leishmania homologue of the mammalian receptor for activated c kinase (LACK) is a known antigen of Leishmania spp. that might be a candidate for vaccination (Mougneau et al., 1995). The antigen is expressed by both promastigotes and amastigotes and has been shown to protect mice from infection, especially when administered with IL-12 (Gurunathan et al., 1997). Very rapid IL-4 production in response to LACK has been documented in susceptible mice infected with L. major, which induced the typical Th2 cell response (Launois et al., 1997). In addition, immunization with LACK protein and IL-12 along with deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA) plasmids containing LACK gene and 'altered' LACK peptides

made susceptible-mice resistant to infection with *L. major* (Mougneau *et al.*, 1995: Guranathan *et al.*, 1997). Thus, the role of LACK-specific cells in resistance and susceptibility to *Leishmania* infection (cutaneous leishmaniasis) is far from being established (Bourreau *et al.*, 2003).

The leishmanial eukaryotic ribosomal protein (LeIF), a homologue of the ribosomal of the ribosomal protein cIF4A, is being considered as a vaccine candidate based on its ability to induce Th1-type cytokines in humans (Skeiky *et al.*, 1998). This protein is highly conserved in evolution, but assuming that specific parasite epitopes will be used for vaccination such that autoimmune responses will be avoided, it may be useful as a component in a pan-Leishmania vaccine (Handman, 2001).

Several other vaccine candidates that are amastigote specific include the A2, P4 and P8 of L. *mexicana pifanoi* (Soong *et al.*, 1995). The A2 genes form part of a multigene family of at least 11 genes and are considered to be virulence factors that are required for the survival of *Leishmania* parasites in the mammalian host (Ghosh and Bandyopadhyay, 2003). Other antigens expressed in amastigotes are the cathepsin L-like cysteine proteinases (CPs), enzymes that belong to the papain superfamily (Mottram *et al.*, 2004). These enzymes have been used in immunization experiments in the mouse model and it has been shown that the recombinant cysteine proteinases class B (CPB), in combination with adjuvant, induces long lasting immunity against *L. major* infection in BALB/c mice, while DNA vaccination is more efficient when a cocktail of plasmid DNAs encoding cysteine proteases class A (CPA) and CPB indicating the usefulness of a combination of these antigens (Rafati *et al.*, 2000). It has been shown that *Leishmania* histones are relevant immunogens for the host immune system during both *Leishmania* infection and disease.

# 1.2.3.3.5 Naked DNA vaccines

A new tool, 'naked DNA', has become available in vaccine development. It shows great promise for both the improvement of existing vaccines and the development of vaccines against disease targets for which there are so far no effective vaccines (Khamesipour *et al.*, 2006). DNA vaccines induce a complete immune response against the encoded antigen. The gene encoding the vaccine candidate is cloned in a mammalian expression vector, and the DNA is injected directly into muscle or skin (Sjölander *et al.*, 1998).

DNA vaccines encoding gp63, LACK and PSA-2 have all been shown to protect both genetically resistant and susceptible mice from with *L. major* by inducing Th1 immune responses (Guranathan *et al.*, 1997; Sjölander *et al.*, 1998; Handman, 2001).

The nucleoside hydrolase (NH36) DNA vaccine of *Leishmania donovani* has been shown to be cross-protective against murine VL caused by *L. chagasi* while vaccination with a multicomponent DNA vaccine against VL in dogs produced Th1 cytokines and was not only shown to reduce incidences of canine VL, but also indirectly reduced the incidence of human VL (Gamboa-León *et al.*, 2006).

Further improvements of the DNA vaccination approach are still needed to design a fully protective vaccine against leishmaniasis (Ahmed *et al.*, 2004).

#### 1.2.3.3.6 Transmission blocking vaccines

Transmission blocking vaccine studies in leishmaniasis have also been undertaken. These studies have shown that LPG is an excellent candidate as a transmission blocking vaccine against *L. major* infections (Tonui, 1999; Tonui *et al.*, 2001). In these studies, sand flies,

which fed on BALB/c mice, immunized with *L. major*-derived LPG or monoclonal antibodies raised against LPG showed that parasite development was inhibited at the log phase (procyclic) of the parasite (Tonui *et al.*, 2003). There was also a marked reduction in the numbers of metacyclic promastigotes developing, leading to reduced transmission of *L. major* to naïve BALB/c mice (Tonui *et al.*, 2001). It has also been shown that *P. duboscqi* gut lysates and proteins present in *L. major*-derived LPG share two common proteins of molecular weights 105 kDa and 106 kDa (Tonui *et al.*, 2003). The main focus of these studies has been to develop a vaccine that can be utilized both to reduce transmissible infections within the sand fly and disease severity within the host. They have also contributed to some of the important findings relevant to vaccine research (Tonui, 2006).

#### 1.2.4 Leishmania excreted/secreted exo-antigens

Excretory and secretory molecules are released from parasite in all stages of the parasite life cycle and may have immunomodulatory and protective effects. *Leishmania* species produce and release a variety of proteins during their growth *in vitro*. The secreted proteins have distinct functions during *Leishmania* infection. First, they play a role in the establishment of the infection in conjunction with important elements existent in the saliva of the sandfly vector (Kamhawi, 2000; Rittig and Bogdan, 2000; Almeida *et al.*, 2003). They are thought to contribute to the maintenance of the infection by interfering with the macrophagic microbicidal functions, cytokine production, antigen presentation, and effector cells activation. This is achieved by repression of gene expression, post-translation protein modification or degradation, and by activation of suppressive pathways (Santarem *et al.*, 2007).

Like many other pathogenic protozoa. *Leishmania* parasites are purine auxotrophs that must salvage preformed nucleosides from their hosts (Marr *et al.*, 1978; Miller *et al.*, 2007). Due to lack of the pathways for *de novo* purine biosynthesis and reliance on preformed purine nucleosides or bases to meet their growth demands. The parasite may have evolved unique pathways to salvage purine nucleosides or bases from their environment (LaFon *et al.*, 1982). These unique pathways present targets against which safe and effective antileishmanial drugs and vaccines can be designed.

There are several enzymes used by the parasite in the salvage pathways one of them is nucleoside hydrolase (NuH). The *Leishmania* non-specific NuH is an essential enzyme in the purine–pyrimidine salvage pathway utilized for DNA and RNA synthesis (Miller *et al.*, 2007). Nucleoside hydrolase is implicated as an important catalytic activity of purine salvage in several trypanosomatid and other parasites. The absence of this enzyme in the mammalian hosts makes it an ideal target for chemotherapy (Cui *et al.*, 2001).

The bulk of the knowledge on surface and secreted molecules of *Leishmania* is focused on lypophosphoglycan (LPG). This is a surface molecule in *Leishmania*, the LPG is composed mainly of repetitive units of a disaccharide and a phosphate, LPG is linked to the membrane by a glycosylphosphatidylinositol anchor (Santarem *et al.*, 2007).

Several attempts to use LPG to confer protection were unproductive (Tonui *et al.*, 2003; Tonui, 2003). Constitutively shed by several Leishmania species. the LPG is the paradigm molecule referred to as evasive and invasive (Santarem *et al.*, 2007).

Soluble L. major exo-antigens (LmSEAgs) were shown to be immunogenic and protective (both with respect to lesion size and parasite burden within lesions) in susceptible adult

BALB/c mice in the absence of any adjuvant (Tonui *et al.*, 2004). Although this suggests that *LmS*EAgs might have vaccine potential for humans, such a claim was reinforced by evidence that a *LmS*EAgs-based vaccine might be useful in neonates (a common approach towards vaccinating humans) and that *LmS*EAgs actually stimulate human cells in a protective manner (Tonui and Titus, 2006). Results demonstrated that *LmS*EAgs were able to confer resistance to challenge in vaccinated neonatal susceptible BALB/c mice (Tonui and Titus, 2006). This ability to vaccinate neonates suggests that a vaccine based upon *LmS*EAgs might be effective in children vaccinated against leishmaniasis (Tonui and Titus, 2006).

Studies have shown that both the lipophosphogycan and M2/gp46 are present in the *LmSEAgs*. In addition *LmSEAgs* have also been used to develop serological assays that demonstrate very high degree of sensitivity and specificity (Martin *et al.*, 1998; Ryan *et al.*, 2002).

In a follow-up study recombinant nucleoside hydrolase (rNuH), a single component of LmSEAgs induced marked protection in susceptible BALB/c mice. In addition the protective potential of NuH was not enhanced by co-injection with IL-12 (Al-Wabel *et al.*, 2007). Finally, protection after vaccination with rNuH correlated with increased production of IFN- $\gamma$  and decreased production of IL-10 (Al-Wabel *et al.*, 2007). These results suggest that NuH should be considered as a component of subunit vaccines against leishmaniasis.

#### 1.2.5 Adjuvants in Leishmania vaccine development

An adjuvant is a substance that helps and enhances the pharmacological effect of a drug or increases the ability of an antigen to stimulate the immune system. An adjuvant when administered with an antigen influences the quantity and quality of ensuing response (Tonui and Titus, 2006). There are Recombinant granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor

(GM-CSF) as an adjuvant has been shown to be well tolerated when used in patients with VL and has been successful used with a defined antigen to treat MCL refractory to antimony (Badaro *et al.*, 2001).

Immunostimulatory DNA (Oligodeoxynucleotides (ODN) which contain immunostimulatory cytosine-phosphate-guanosine (CpG) motifs (CpG ODN) have been used as adjuvant to soluble *Leishmania* antigen and Montanide ISA 720 used with histone 1 (H1) recombinant vaccine have been tested in BALB/c mice and proved to be partially protective (Stacey and Blackwell, 1999; Masina *et al.*, 2003). However when montanide 720 was tried with *Lm*SEAgs it found that it did not enhance the activity of the antigens (Tonui *et al.*, 2004).

Soluble cytokines known to promote Th1 immune responses have been used to induce and maintain immune responses by *Leishmania* vaccines. Interleukin-12 has been shown to induce the development of CD4+ Th1 cytokines (Aebischer *et al.*, 2000; Tonui *et al.*, 2004). Other types of particulate adjuvants and delivery systems that have been tested in animal models include liposomes, microparticles, immunostimulating complexes (ISCOMS) (Handman, 2001). In general, these substances induced partially protective immunity.

#### 1.2.5.1 Bacille Calmette Guerin (B.C.G)

One of the well known vaccine that also acts as an adjuvant is BCG. It is a vaccine against tuberculosis that is prepared from a strain of the attenuated (weakened) live bovine tuberculosis bacillus, *Mycobacterium bovis* that has lost its virulence in humans by being specially cultured in an artificial medium for years. The bacilli have retained enough antigenicity to become a somewhat effective vaccine for the prevention of human

tuberculosis (Fine *et al.*, 1999). It was discovered by Albert Calmette, and his colleague. Camille Guérin, in 1908 from whom the vaccine derives its name. The BCG vaccine was first used in humans in 1921 (Fine *et al.*, 1999).

Bacille Calmette Guérin has also been used in many other diseases successfully. It has been shown to have a small protective effect against leprosy (Setia *et al.*, 2006). It is possible that BCG may protect against or delay the onset of Buruli ulcer (Tanghe *et al.*, 2001). Bacille Calmette Guérin is useful in the treatment of superficial forms of bladder cancer (Lamm *et al.*, 1991). Since the late 1980s evidence has become available that instillation of BCG into the bladder is an effective form of immunotherapy in this disease (Lamm *et al.*, 1991). Immunotherapy with BCG prevents recurrence in up to two thirds of cases of superficial bladder cancer BCG (Mosolits *et al.*, 2005).

Bacille Calmette Guérin as an adjuvant has been used in vaccination and immunotherapy trials against leishmaniasis. As adjuvant, BCG has been used successfully in many trials in both clinical and pre clinical trials (Misra *et al.*, 2001). Previous studies have shown that the combination of live BCG with killed *Leishmania* promastigotes was efficient in the cure of Venezuelan patients suffering American cutaneous leishmaniasis (Castes *et al.*, 1989; Convit *et al.*, 1989). In addition the application of this combination in the immunoprophylaxis of cutaneous leishmaniasis is encouraging, since the vaccine resulted in a long-term stimulation of the immune response to *Leishmania* antigens in a high percentage of healthy volunteers (Castes *et al.*, 1989).

The vaccination with BCG plus killed Leishmania promastigotes against Trypanosoma cruzi in mice reduced acute infection increasing survival time and decreased parasitaemia and mortality (Araujo *et al.*, 1999). Successful vaccination with autoclaved *Leishmania major* (ALM) along with BCG has been evaluated in single and triple dose schedules against *L. donovani* in Indian langurs for its vaccine potential against cutaneous leishmaniasis (Misra *et al.*, 2001). The findings from this study suggest ALM+BCG as a potential vaccine against visceral leishmaniasis (Misra *et al.*, 2001). In a vaccine trial in Bam, Iran a single dose of ALM plus BCG was found to be safe and more immunogenic than BCG alone, showing that BCG influences the prophylactic effect of ALM (Sharifi *et al.*, 1998). In a randomized trial in Sudan using BCG plus ALM it was found that BCG alone was found to be more protective than BCG plus ALM (Khalil *et al.*, 2000).

In experimental studies treatment of leishmaniasis, BCG has been fairly successful. Early studies suggested that intraperitoneal or subcutaneous inoculation of C3H mice with BCG did not alter lesion size in *Leishmania mexicana* infected animals (Grimaldi *et al.*, 1980). Intravenous pretreatment of BALB/c mice with BCG was protective against systemic *L. major* disease but did little to protect these animals from cutaneous infection (Weintraub and Weinbaum, 1977). However, later studies to examine the protective effects of BCG on *Leishmania major* infections of BALB/c and P/J mice showed that BCG induced protection against chronic cutaneous disease, as well as lethal systemic infections (Fortier *et al.*, 1987).

#### 1.2.6 Problem statement and justification

Leishmaniasis is of public health importance and is highly endemic in developing countries affecting predominantly the poor in the society (WHO, 2007). First-line treatment is expensive, toxic and needs to be administered by injection in hospital (WHO, 2007). On the other hand *Leishmania* coinfection with human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) is an emerging condition that demands urgent attention (WHO, 2007). Even when co-infected patients receive proper treatments, they relapse repeatedly and the outcome is fatal frequently. Currently, there are reports of drug resistance against pentavalent antimonials (Hadighi *et al.*, 2006; WHO, 2006).

Leishmaniasis in general, but particularly cutaneous leishmaniasis is probably one of a few parasitic diseases that is most likely to be controlled by vaccines. The relatively uncomplicated leishmanial life cycle and the fact that recovery from a primary infection renders the host resistant to subsequent infections indicate that a successful vaccine is feasible (Handman, 2001; Kedzierski *et al.*, 2006). With regard, to the severity of human kala-azar, the spreading of the epidemic and the limitations of chemotherapy (toxicity and need for hospitalization), the development of a vaccine against the human and canine diseases is strongly encouraged by the World Health Organization. In view of this, there is an urgent need for a vaccine against leishmaniasis that would be both therapeutic and prophylactic (Kedzierski *et al.*, 2006).

Protection against *L. major* infection depends on the ability to generate macrophageactivating Th1 responses resulting in the production of IFN- $\gamma$  and adjuvants are tools to help achieve this (Tonui *et al.*, 2004). Frequently used adjuvants like Freund's incomplete adjuvant and aluminium hydroxide (alum) are known to induce mainly antibody and biased Th2 responses thus limiting their application in vaccines against *Leishmania* (Conacher *et al.*, 2000). Coinjecting *Lm*SEAgs together with alum, rmIL-12, or Montanide ISA 720 did not increase protection. The only adjuvant system that equaled the protection seen with *Lm*SEAgs alone was IL-12 plus alum (Tonui *et al.*, 2004).

Therefore, there is need to look for an adjuvant that would enhance the activity of *Lm*SEAgs. In the other hand, BCG has proved to be a non-specific stimulant of immune system, it is also a powerful adjuvant, enhancing immune reaction. Such enhancement is likely to produce long-term immunity. Experimental studies on clinical leishmaniasis, have shown that BCG elicits partial protective Th1 responses (Mahmoodi *et al.*, 2005; Khamesipour *et al.*, 2006). In Iran, a study showed that in the long term, the combination of BCG and ALM provided better efficacy than BCG alone (Sharifi *et al.*, 1998).

Leishmania Soluble exo-antigens are potential vaccine candidates against leishmaniasis. The exo antigen is able to elicit Th-1 type response that has been shown to confer protection against leishmaniasis (Tonui *et al.*, 2004; Tonui and Titus, 2006; Al-Wabel *et al.*, 2007). In a study by Tonui *et al.*, (2004) *L. major* soluble exo-antigens were found to be immunogenic eliciting significant protection against the challenge with *L. major* in susceptible BALB/c mice without an adjuvant. There is no documented study on the use of BCG as an adjuvant to *Lm*SEAgs. Considering the fact that both BCG and *Lm*SEAgs are immunoprophylatic, the purpose of this study was to determine their combined potential in vaccination against leishmaniasis.

# 1.2.7 Null hypothesis

BCG does not enhance protective immune responses in LmSEAgs vaccinated BALB/c mice.

# 1.2.8 Objectives

# 1.2.8.1 General objective

To determine the adjuvant potential of BCG in LmSEAgs vaccinated BALB/c mice.

## **1.2.8.2** Specific objectives

- 1. To determine cytokine immune responses (IL-4. IL-5 and IFN- $\gamma$ ) in *Lm*SEAgs vaccinated BALB/c mice with or without BCG as an adjuvant.
- 2. To determine disease progression in *Lm*SEAgs vaccinated BALB/c mice with or without BCG as an adjuvant.
- 3. To determine the parasite burden in *Lm*SEAgs vaccinated BALB/c mice with or without BCG as an adjuvant.

## 1.2.9 Significance of the study

The results of this study will be useful in providing new insights on the adjuvant potential of BCG on *L. major* soluble exo-antigen against *L. major* infection in BALB/c mice.

# **CHAPTER 2-MATERIALS AND METHODS**

#### 2.1 Study site

The study was carried out in the Leishmaniasis laboratory at the Center for Biotechnology Research and Development at the Kenya Medical Research Institute (KEMRI).

#### 2.2 Leishmania major parasites and culture

Metacyclic promastigotes of *L. major* strain (Strain IDC/KE/ 83=NLB-144) were used. Parasites were maintained in Schneider's Drosophila insect medium described by Titus *et al.*, (1995). Stationary phase promastigotes were obtained from 5 to 7 day old cultures. The metacyclics were isolated from stationary-phase cultures by negative selection using peanut agglutination described in Sack and Perkins (1984) and Tonui *et al.*, (2004).

#### 2.3 Preparation of *Leishmania major* soluble excreted/secreted exo-antigens

*Leishmania major* soluble exo-antigens were produced as previously described by Ryan *et al.*, 2002. Briefly *L. major* parasites were initially grown in supplemented medium to the late log phase. The parasites were spun for 9000 rounds per minute and then washed in serum-free medium (XOM) described by Martin *et al.*, (1998). Washed promastigotes were inoculated into XOM to give a final density of  $10^8$  cells/ml and incubated at  $26^{\circ}$ C for 72h in roller bottles. Thereafter the spent medium was harvested by centrifugation twice at 11000rpm for 30 minutes and the relative protein concentration of *Lm*SEAgs was estimated by measuring the optical density (OD) at 280nm (Tonui *et al.*, 2004).

#### 2.4 Study design

The study was carried out using a completely randomized block design in two phases. Ninety six female BALB/c mice aged between 6-8 weeks were used for the study. The mice that

were used in the experiments were bred and maintained at KEMRI's animal house facility following the laid down institutional guidelines. The mice were randomly divided into two groups: immunotherapy and immunoprophylaxis. In each of the two experimental set-ups the mice were randomly assigned to four groups of twelve mice each. In the immunoprophylaxis experiments the mice were vaccinated before infection while in the immunotherapy experiments the mice were challenged before vaccination.

## 2.4.1 Immunoprophylaxis of a combination of *LmSEAgs* and BCG.

The first four groups were vaccinated before challenge with *L. major* metacyclic promastigotes. The first group in this experimental set-up was treated with 50µg *Lm*SEAgs subcutaneous injection alone; the second group received soluble 50µg of *Lm*SEAgs in combination with 0.1ml of *Mycobacterium bovis* BCG suspension that contained  $10^{5}$  colony forming units per milliliter by subcutaneous injection. The third group received BCG alone that contained  $10^{5}$  colony forming units per milliliter by subcutaneous injection of phosphate buffered saline (PBS). These treatments were carried out at, day 0 and 13 before challenge with *L. major*. Seven days after the second immunization, all the mice were challenged (Figure 8) by subcutaneous injection with 1 x  $10^{5}$  metacyclic *L. major* in 50 µL of saline solution in their hind right footpad as described in Tonui *et al.*, (2004).



Figure 8: Subcutaneous infection of a BALB/c mouse on the left footpad mice with  $10^5 L$ . *major* metacyclic promastigotes.

# 2.4.2 Immunotherapy of a combination of LmSEAgs and BCG

All the mice in the other four groups were challenged at day zero with  $1 \times 10^5$  metacyclic *L. major* in 50 µL of saline solution in by subcutaneous injection on their hind right footpad (Tonui *et al.*, 2004; Al-Wabel *et al.*, 2007). The vaccinations were carried out at week 3 and 5 post infection. One group was treated with 50µg of soluble *L. major* exo-antigens by subcutaneous injection (Tonui *et al.*, 2004). The second group was treated with 50µg of soluble *L. major* exo-antigens in combination with 0.1ml of *Mycobacterium bovis* BCG suspension that contains  $10^5$  colony forming units per milliliter by subcutaneous injection. The third group was treated with 0.1ml of *Mycobacterium bovis* BCG suspension that contains  $10^5$  colony forming units per milliliter by subcutaneous injection.

## 2.5 Cytokine immune responses.

In order to determine acquired immune responses, cell cultures were done, followed by cell proliferation. From the cultures supernatants were harvested and used for measurement of cytokines.

#### 2.5.1 Cell cultures

Spleens from mice infected with *L. major* were harvested from duplicate mice in each experimental group just prior to infection (day 0) and at day 35 post-infection (Immunoprophylaxis) and at day 7 and 28 post vaccination (immunotherapy). The mononuclear cells were purified with FicoII-Paque ingredients (Bøyum, 1968). The viability of mononuclear cells was examined by trypan blue exclusion test. Splenocytes were then adjusted to  $10^6$ /ml in complete RPMI 1640 medium supplemented with 5% fetal bovine serum (FBS), 2 mM L-glutamine, 100 units of penicillin per ml, and 100 µg of streptomycin

per ml. The splenocytes were then dispensed at the rate of 100  $\mu$ L per well in 96 well flat bottomed tissue culture plate in triplicate for each of the experimental groups and either cultured alone or stimulated with Con A, 100  $\mu$ g/ml of *Lm*SEAgs. The cells were then incubated in a humidified atmosphere at 37 °C and 5% CO2 for 48 h. Colorimetric microassay was used to determine cell proliferation (Hay and Westwood, 2002).

#### 2.5.2 Colorimetric assay for cell proliferation

Colorimetric microassay for cell proliferation was performed as described in (Hay and Westwood. 2002). Forty eight hours after culture, the plates were centrifuged at 90 g for 10 minutes to remove medium. After which 100  $\mu$ L of thiazolyl blue tetrazolium bromide (MTT) was added to all wells of the plates then cells were incubated at 37  $^{\circ}$ C for 3-4 h. One hundred microlitres of culture supernatant was removed after centrifugation and 100  $\mu$ L of dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) was added to all the wells followed by vigorous pipetting to dissolve the formazan crystals formed by metabolization of MTT by live cells. The plates were then read at 570 nm in an ELISA reader.

## 2.5.3 Measurement of cytokines

The cytometric bead array (CBA) kit was used to measure levels of IL-4, IL-5 and IFN- $\gamma$  as previously described by Hodge *et al.*, 2004. Briefly, the Th1/Th2 cytokine standards were reconstituted and serially diluted using assay diluent. Ten microlitre of each mouse cytokine capture bead suspension was mixed and 50µl of mixed beads transferred to each assay tube. After the addition, 50 µl each of the standard dilutions and test samples to the appropriate sample tubes, 50 µl of phycoerythrin (PE) detection reagent was added and the mixture incubated for 2 h in the dark at room temperature. The samples will be washed and centrifuged at 500g for 5 min and the pellet resuspended in 300 µl of wash buffer. The FACS

Calibur flow cytometer (BD Pharmingen) was calibrated with setup beads and the sample acquired. Individual cytokine concentration was indicated by its fluorescent intensities and then computed using the standard reference curve of CELLQUEST and CBA software (BD Pharmingen).

#### 2.6 Limiting dilution assay for quantification of L. major parasite numbers

The number of living *L. major* parasites in infected footpads was quantified at 21, 42 and 63 days post infection in the immunoprophylatic experiments while in the immunotherapeutic experiments the parasite load was quantified at 21, 35, 49 and 63. In both experiments the quantification was done using the parasite-limiting dilution assay (Lima *et al.*, 1997). Mice were sacrificed and the feet removed between the ankle joint and toes. Skin-peeled tissue from the footpad lesion was cut into several pieces then homogenized in a glass tissue homogenizer in complete Schneider's insect medium. Pooled samples were diluted in 5 ml complete Schneider's medium per infected footpad. Serial dilutions of 200  $\mu$ l of the footpad homogenate were then distributed in replicate wells of a 24-well plate. The plates were sealed using a parafilm and incubated in the dark at 26°C. After 7 to 14 days, the assay was read microscopically, and the number of viable parasites in the tissue was determined as described by Titus *et al.*, (1995). Plates were scored and the results evaluated using the ELIDA program (ELIDA software 1985–2005; Carl Taswell) for statistical analysis (Taswell, 1987).

# 2.7 Determination of disease progression by measuring lesion sizes

To determine the disease progression, development of lesions (Figure 9) for both experimental setups was followed by measuring the thickness (Figure 9) of the infected footpad as compared to the thickness of the contra lateral footpad prior to infection using a vernier caliper (Titus *et al.*, 1989; Tonui *et al.*, 2004). The feet of infected mice were monitored weekly.



Figure 9: An ulcerating lesion of an infected footpad (above) and measuring lesion sizes of L. *major* challenged-mice (below).

# 2.8 Ethical and biosafety considerations

Approval for the study was sought from KEMRI ethical review commutee and the Huard of Postgraduate Studies of the University of Nairobi. The experiments were done in complete with KEMRI's Animal Care and Use Committee (ACUC). Standard operating procedures (SOPs) available at the *Leishmania* laboratory at the CBRD include immunizing of animals using standard 21gauge needle, anesthetizing them using 6% audium Personalities (Sough 2) and killing them by using CO<sub>2</sub> asphyxiation. Biosafety issues were addressed by sterilizing dead animals through dipping them into 70% ethanol, disposing into appropriate biohazard bags before transfer to the incinerator at KEMRI. Further precontionary measures involved putting on protective gear and carrying out the experiments in a laminar flow hand (Nuair Biological Cabinets).

#### 2.9 Statistical analyses

Statistical analysis was performed using Microsolt Excel. Cytokine concentrations were expressed as means  $\pm$  the standard error. The Student *t* test was used to examine the differences in cytokine concentrations in culture supermatants as well as proliferation of stimulated and unstimulated splenocyte cultures. Data on lesion progression was analyzed for statistical significance using the analysis of variance (ANOVA) and T test, *P* when of  $\pm$  0.05 was considered significant. Results from the LDA were evaluated using the LLDA program (ELIDA software 1985–2005; Carl Taswell, 1987).

# **CHAPTER THREE-RESULTS**

#### 3.1 Immunoprophylaxis of combination of BCG and LmSEAgs

# 3.1.1 Lymphoproliferative responses of splenocyte cultures before infection with Leishmania major

The *in vitro* lymphocyte proliferative response to *Lm*SEAgs was conducted at 7 days after the booster vaccination to determine the effect of vaccination alone in the absence of challenge with *L. major*. The results for the *Lm*SEAgs stimulated splenocytes of mice that had received BCG + *Lm*SEAgs, *Lm*SEAgs alone. BCG alone and the control unvaccinated groups before infection with *L. major* are summarized in Table 1. As a control for cell viability, splenocytes were also stimulated with a mitogen, con A. The cells from all the groups stimulated with con A showed high degrees of proliferative responses with no statistical significance among the groups (P > 0.05).

The proliferative responses of splenocyte cultures to *Lm*SEAgs obtained from mice that had been vaccinated with *Lm*SEAgs + BCG was significantly higher (P<0.01; O.D± S.E 0.633± 0.016) compared to the unvaccinated control (O.D± S.E 0.466 ± 0.015).

For the group of mice vaccinated with BCG alone stimulated with *Lm*SEAgs, the proliferative response was significantly higher (P < 0.01; O.D ±S.E 0.689 ± 0.015) compared to the unvaccinated controls. While for the group of mice vaccinated with *Lm*SEAgs alone, there was a significant difference in the proliferation compared to the controls (P=0.001; O.D ± S.E 0.689 ± 0.015).

There was no significant difference (P>0.05) in the proliferative responses of splenocytes of from group of mice vaccinated with LmSEAgs + BCG, LmSEAgs alone and BCG alone.

Table 1: Mean optical density (OD) readings (540nm) of In vitro proliferative responses of splenocytes before and after infection with L. major.

Treatment groups	Cell Proliferation before infection with L. major Mean OD readings (540 nm) ± S.E			Cell proliferation 30 days after infection with L. major Mean OD readings (540 nm) ± S.E		
	LuSEAgs	0.633± 0.016	0.362 ± 0.007	0.001	0.361 ± 0.006	0.416 ± 0.01
LmSEAgs+ BCG	0.668 = 0.025	0.346 ± 0.039	0.001	0.749 ± 0.016	0.374 = 0.008	< 0.01
BCG	0.689 = 0.015	0.354 ± 0.021	0.002	0.881 = 0.009	0.388+ 0.006	< 0.001
PBS	0.466 = 0.015	0.327 ± 0.029	NA	0.508 = 0.037	0.301 = 0.026	NA

# 3.1.2 Lymphoproliferative responses of splenocyte cultures after infection with *Leishmania major*.

The second cell proliferation assay was carried out on the  $30^{th}$  day after infection of mice with *L. major*. There was marked increase in the proliferative response to *Lm*SEAgs for the groups vaccinated with *Lm*SEAgs + BCG, *Lm*SEAgs alone and BCG alone compared to the proliferation before infection (*P*<0.05). This is an indication of recall proliferative response.

The proliferative response after infection was significantly higher (P < 0.001) in the vaccinated groups compared to the unvaccinated controls (Table 1).

In the group of mice vaccinated with LmSEAgs + BCG, the proliferative response of splenocyte cultures to LmSEAgs was not significantly different compared to the proliferation before infection (0.668 ± 0.025 vs 0.749 ± 0.016; P=0.08).

While in the group of mice vaccinated with LmSEAgs the proliferative response of splenocyte culture was higher than it was before infection (O.D  $\pm$  S.E 0.633 $\pm$  0.016 vs 0.861  $\pm$  0.006; P=0.007).

Finally in the group of mice vaccinated with BCG the proliferative response of splenocyte culture was high after infection compared to before infection (O.D  $\pm$  S.E 0.881  $\pm$  0.009 vs 0.689  $\pm$  0.015; *P*=0.02).
#### 3.1.3 Cytokine production

#### 3.1.3.1 Interferon gamma production of splenocyte cultures before infection with Leishmania major

The mean production of IFN- $\gamma$  by splenocytes of mice vaccinated with *Lm*SEAgs coadministered with BCG in response to *in vitro* stimulation with *Lm*SEAgs before challenge was significantly higher compared to the control unvaccinated group (*P*<0.05). The *Lm*SEAgs group had the highest production of IFN- $\gamma$  (mean ± S.E., 640.447 ± 20.734 pg/ml), followed by the group of mice vaccinated with BCG alone (Table 2). However, there was no significant difference in the *in vitro* production of IFN- $\gamma$  in mice vaccinated with *Lm*SEAgs alone, BCG alone and *Lm*SEAgs + BCG (*P*=0.173). Table 2: In vitro IFN- $\gamma$  production (mean ± SE) before and after infection with L. major.

	Mean IFN-γ production before	e infection	Mean IFN-γ production 30 days after infection	
Treatment groups	Mean production of IFN-γ (pg/ml) induced by LmSEAgs	Mean IFN-γ production (pg/ml) by cells in medium	Mean production of IFN-γ (pg/ml) induced by LmSEAgs	Mean IFN-y production (pg/ml) by cells in medium
LmSEAgs	640.447 ± 20.734	15.143 ± 0.282	803.368 ± 17.697	15.742 ± 2.015
LmSEAgs + BCG	581.106 ± 24.384	12.225 ± 2.831	730.490 ± 7.384	10.861 ± 2.831
BCG	604.640 ± 9.964	10.339 ± 1.897	1117.882 ± 84.903	12.565 ± 2.39
PBS	$177.743 \pm 10.430$	$0.000 \pm 0.000$	$292.715 \pm 10.430$	$0.000 \pm 0.000$

-	Bacille	Calmette	Guerir

*Leishmania major* soluble exo-antigens Phosphate Buffered Saline

LmSEAgs PBS

Key: BCG

-

#### 3.1.3.2 Interferon gamma production of splenocyte cultures after infection with Leishmania major

The levels of IFN- $\gamma$  were determined at 30 days post-infection with *L. major* parasites. There was no significant increase in the level of IFN- $\gamma$  produced by the group of mice vaccinated with *Lm*SEAgs + BCG as compared to the amount produced before infection (*P*= 0.255). However, there was significant increase in the level of IFN- $\gamma$  produced from the *Lm*SEAgs group compared to the levels produced before infection with *L. major* (*P*= 0.003). Finally in the group vaccinated with BCG there was significant increase of IFN- $\gamma$  production (mean ± S.E., 803.249 ± 17.697; *P*=0.01) compared to before infection (mean ± S.E., 604.447 ± 20.734).

Overall, there was an increase (P>0.05)in the amount of IFN- $\gamma$  detected in splenocyte culture supernatants of all the groups after infection as compared to before infection (Table 2). Very low levels of IFN- $\gamma$  was observed from wells with unstimulated cultures.

#### 3.1.3.3 Interleukin-4 production before infection with Leishmania major

Splenocytes from mice vaccinated with LmSEAgs + BCG produced the highest level of IL-4 when stimulated *in vitro* with LmSEAgs (mean  $\pm$  S.E., 31.651  $\pm$  1.667). This cytokine production was significantly higher than that produced by the unvaccinated controls (P=0.01). The level of IL-4 observed from splenocyte cultures of mice vaccinated with LmSEAgs (mean  $\pm$  S.E., 26.992  $\pm$  2.284), was not significantly different from that produced by the control unvaccinated mice (P=0.07) (Table 3). The lowest production of IL-4 in response to stimulation with LmSEAgs *in vitro* was observed in the group of mice vaccinated with BCG (mean  $\pm$  S.E., 15.452  $\pm$  2.45). This cytokine level did not reach any statistical significance compared to that of the control unvaccinated group (P=0.715). The IL-4 production from splenocyte cultures of mice vaccinated with LmSEAgs alone, BCG alone after *in vitro* stimulation with LmSEAgs did not differ significantly from the controls (P < 0.05). Very low levels of IL-4 was observed from wells with unstimulated cultures.

	Mean IL-4 production before	infection	Mean IL-4 production 30 days after infection	
Treatment groups	Mean production of IL-4 (pg/ml) induced by LmSEAgs	Mean production of IL-4 (pg/ml) by cells in medium	Mean production of IL-4 (pg/ml) induced by LmSEAgs	Mean production of IL-4 (pg/ml) by cells in medium
LmSEAgs	26.622 ± 2.284	7.315 ± 1.122	11.404 ± 1.421	1.73 ± 0.898
LmSEAgs + BCG	35.651 ± 1.669	3.485 ± 0.297	13.476 ± 4.966	4.388 ± 0.832
BCG	15.452 ± 2.45	5.965 ± 1.065	9.673 ± 3.551	$0.000 \pm 0.000$
PBS	$17.119 \pm 3.476$	$1.151 \pm 0.665$	35.339 ± 5.31	$6.948 \pm 0.43$

Table 3: In vitro IL-4 production (mean  $\pm$  SE) before and after infection with L. major.

Key: BCG

Bacille Calmette Guerin -

LmSEAgs PBS

Leishmania major soluble exo-antigens Phosphate Buffered Saline

61

#### 3.1.3.4 Interleukin-4 production after infection with Leishmania major

Data on IL-4 production 30 days after vaccination is summarized in Table 3. There was a significant decrease in IL-4 production for all the vaccinated groups on the 30<sup>th</sup> day post infection with *L. major* (P < 0.05). However, in the control unvaccinated group there was a 2.1 fold increase in IL-4 produced compared to before infection. In the *Lm*SEAgs + BCG group there was a significant decrease in comparison to before infection (mean  $\pm$  S.E., 32.651  $\pm$ 1.669 pg/ml). This represented a 2.4 fold reduction compared to before infection (P=0.002).

The splenocytes from mice vaccinated with BCG had a significant reduction in IL-4 production compared to before infection (mean  $\pm$  S.E., 9.673  $\pm$  3.551 pg/ml; *P* =0.02). This represented a 2.3-fold decrease and was significantly lower compared to that of the unvaccinated controls. Finally, there was a significant decrease in the IL-4 production in the splenocytes from mice vaccinated with *Lm*SEAgs after infection compared to before (mean  $\pm$  S.E., 11.404  $\pm$  1.421 vs 26.622  $\pm$  2.284 pg/ml; *P*<0.05).

On the overall, the controls unvaccinated but *L. major* challenged mice produced the highest amount of IL-4 compared to the treatment groups (mean  $\pm$  S.E., 35.339  $\pm$  5.31 pg/ml; *P*= 0.007). There was no significant difference in the production of IL-4 in the vaccinated groups (*P*= 0.767). Very low levels of IL-4 was observed from wells with unstimulated cultures.

### 3.1.3.5 Interleukin-5 production before infection with *Leishmania major*

Data on IL-5 production by splenocytes of mice vaccinated with LmSEAgs + BCG, LmSEAgs alone, BCG alone and control unvaccinated in response to *in vitro* stimulation with LmSEAgs, before challenge with L. major is presented in Table 4. The mean production of IL-5 by splenocytes of mice vaccinated with LmSEAgs + BCG did not differ significantly from that of the control unvaccinated group (mean  $\pm$  S.E., 13.514  $\pm$ 1.958 vs 15.216  $\pm$  3.321 pg/ml; P=0.6). Similarly, the mean production of IL-5 of splenocytes from mice vaccinated with LmSEAgs did not reach any statistical significance compared to the unvaccinated control (P = 0.1). However levels of IL-5 produced by splenocytes from mice vaccinated with BCG reached statistical significance (P = 0.003) compared to the unvaccinated controls.

There was significant difference in the production of IL-5 by splenocytes of mice vaccinated with LmSEAgs + BCG. BCG alone and LmSEAgs in response to LmSEAgs (P=0.04). The highest production of IL-5 was realized from the unvaccinated group of mice (mean  $\pm$  S.E., 19.514  $\pm$  1.251pg/ml). Very low levels of IL-5 were observed from wells with unstimulated cultures.

Table 4: In vitro 1L-5 production (mean  $\pm$  SE) before and after infection with L. major.

	Mean IL-5production before i	nfection	Mean IL-5 production 30 days after infection	
Treatment groups	Mean production of IL-5 (pg/ml) induced by LmSEAgs	Mean production of IL-5 (pg/ml) by cells in medium	Mean production of IL-5 (pg/ml) induced by LmSEAgs	Mean production of IL-5 (pg/ml) by cells in medium
LmSEAgs	8.547 ± 0.891	4.330 ± 0.787	5.653 ± 2.204	$0.000 \pm 0.000$
BCG	7.996 ± 0.377	5.114 ± 0.407	$0.000 \pm 0.000$	$0.000 \pm 0.000$
PBS	15.216 ± 3.312	$4.442 \pm 0.336$	38.320 ± 4.778	$3.861 \pm 0.376$

Key:	BCG	-	Bacille Calmette Guerin
	<b>LmSEAgs</b>	-	Leishmania major soluble exo-antigens
	PBS	-	Phosphate Buffered Saline

#### 3.1.3.6 Interleukin-5 production after infection with Leishmania major

Data on IL-5 production by cell cultures of splenocytes from mice 30 days after infection with *L. major* in response to stimulation with *Lm*SEAgs are presented in Table 4. The mean production of IL-5 by cells of mice vaccinated with *Lm*SEAgs + BCG, in response to *Lm*SEAgs was significantly lower compared to before infection with *L. major* (mean  $\pm$ S.E., 15.962  $\pm$  1.585 pg/ml; *P*=0.02). In addition, this cytokine production was significantly lower compared to the unvaccinated controls (*P*= 0.01). This was also 2.4 fold lower than the controls. On the other hand, there was no significant difference in the mean production of IL-5 by splenocytes of mice vaccinated with *Lm*SEAgs compared to before infection (mean  $\pm$  S.E., 5.653  $\pm$  2.204 pg/ml; *P* =0.2). However this production was significantly different from the control mice (*P*= 0.003) and was 6.7 times lower than the amount produced by the control mice.

There was no production of IL-5 from splenocyte cultures from mice vaccinated with BCG stimulated *in vitro* with *Lm*SEAgs. The highest production of IL-5 from splenocyte culture supernatants stimulated *in vitro* with *Lm*SEAgs was observed in the control group of mice (mean  $\pm$  S.E., 38.320  $\pm$  4.778 pg/ml). In contrast, very low levels of IL-5 were observed from wells with unstimulated cultures.

### 3.1.4 Lesion size measurements for BALB/c mice vaccinated before infection with *L. major*.

In order to evaluate the disease progression in mice vaccinated with *Lm*SEAgs alone, *Lm*SEAgs + BCG, BCG alone and PBS as the control; lesion size was followed by measuring the increase in the thickness of the infected foot compared with the contralateral uninfected footpad on a week-to-week basis. As shown in Figure 10 lesion sizes had not developed in all the groups of mice between days 0 and 7.

To evaluate the efficacy of LmSEAgs + BCG, lesion size was compared with that in unvaccinated controls. The lesion development started at the end of week 1. At week 2, 3, 4 and 5 the lesion sizes were not significantly different from the controls (P > 0.05). From week 6 to week 10 there was a steady reduction in lesion sizes that was significantly different from that of the unvaccinated controls (P < 0.01).

In the group of mice vaccinated with *Lm*SEAgs alone, lesion development started at the end of the first week. At week 2 and week 3 lesion sizes were not significantly different compared to the controls (P> 0.05). From week 4 to week 10 the lesion sizes were smaller than the control (P< 0.01).

In mice vaccinated with BCG, lesion development started at the end of the first week. From week 2 to week 5 lesion sizes were significantly smaller compared to the controls (P < 0.01) although they were increasing in size (Figure 10). From week 6 to week 10 there was a steady reduction in the lesion sizes that was statistically significant from the controls (P < 0.01).

On the overall, there was no significant difference in lesion sizes among the groups of mice vaccinated with LmSEAgs + BCG, BCG alone and LmSEAgs alone (P > 0.05).

Mice in the control unvaccinated but *L. major* challenged group developed large progressive footpad lesions reaching a peak at week 10 (mean  $\pm$  S.E., 1.2  $\pm$  0.071 mm Figure 10). Unvaccinated control groups were euthanatized if they reached a predetermined level of lesion severity and/or displayed clinical signs of distress or pain.



Figure 10: Progression of *L. major* infection as represented with footpad swelling in BALB/c mice of mice vaccinated twice subcutaneously with various regiments before challenge with *L. major*.

Data represent the mean  $\pm$  S.E. of the difference between the infected and contralateral uninfected footpad from the four experiments with 4 mice per group.

### 3.1.5 Quantification of *L. major* in infected footpads of BALB/c mice vaccinated before infection with *L. major*.

The number of *L. major* parasites present in the infected footpads was quantified at 21, 42 and 63 days post infection using a limiting dilution assay (LDA) (Lima *et al.*, 1997). The results were analyzed using the ELIDA statistical package (2001-2005) developed by Taswell *et al.* (1981). The results are summarized in Table 5. In the first LDA done at 21 days post infection, *L. major* parasites were detected in both the vaccinated and unvaccinated groups of mice. The number of *L. major* in the footpads from mice vaccinated with BCG alone, *Lm*SEAgs + BCG and *Lm*SEAgs alone was lower than that of the controls at 21 days post infection, however the differences between the groups was not significant (P > 0.05).

The parasite burdens in the mice vaccinated with LmSEAgs alone, LmSEAgs + BCG and BCG alone differed significantly (P < 0.05) from those of the control unvaccinated mice as the disease progressed as quantified at days 42 and 63 post infection. The highest difference was recorded in the BCG group that had a parasite burden of 0.3 x 10<sup>4</sup> compared to 48.8 x 10<sup>6</sup> in the controls.

Parasite numbers from the footpads were lower at all time points in *Lm*SEAgs alone, *Lm*SEAgs+BCG and BCG alone (Table 5). The parasite loads in the *Lm*SEAgs + BCG vaccinated BALB/c mice footpads were 75 fold less, those in *Lm*SEAgs was 232.3 fold less than their unvaccinated counterparts. Lastly, those of the BCG vaccinated mice ranged 1626 fold less than the control unvaccinated mice at day 63. The parasite loads for mice vaccinated with *Lm*SEAgs, *Lm*SEAgs+BCG and BCG were significantly lower than those of the unvaccinated mice (P < 0.05). On the other hand, parasite burdens in the unvaccinated control increased persistently as the disease progressed. Overall, the parasite burdens in the footpads of mice vaccinated with *Lm*SEAgs, *Lm*SEAgs + BCG alone did not differ significantly from each other (P>0.05) but were significantly different (P < 0.05) from the unvaccinated control mice at day 42 and day 35.

	Experimental group (No. of <i>L. major</i> (10 <sup>6</sup> )/footpad (95% confidence limits)						
Days post-infection	Control	LmSEAgs	LmSEAgs + BCG	BCG			
21	10.2(29.4-1.23)	1.5(1.7-1.3)	4.13 (12.1-3.8)	0.94(1.19-0.68)			
42	19.3(28.75 - 13.8)	0.85(1.21-0.55)*	1.88 (3.38-0.41)*	0.52 (0.13-1.21)*			
63	48.8(87.2-19.8)	0.21(0.15-0.09)*	0.65(1.54-0.54)*	0.03(0.01-0.06)*			

Table 5: Parasite burden in the L. major infected footpads after vaccination with various regimes before challenge during the course of infection.

(\*) P < 0.05 parasite burden is significantly different from mice that received PBS (control unvaccinated group).

# 3.2 Determination of the Immunotherapy of a combination of LmSEAgs + BCG: 3.2.1 Lymphoproliferative responses of splenocytes cultures a week post vaccination

The first experiment, conducted at 7 days after the booster vaccinations sought to determine the effect of vaccination five weeks after challenge with *L. major* on the potential of the immune system to respond to stimulation *in vitro* with soluble *Lm*SEAgs. The *in vitro* lymphocyte proliferative responses of unstimulated and *Lm*SEAgs stimulated splenocytes of mice that had received BCG + *Lm*SEAgs, *Lm*SEAgs alone, BCG alone and the control unvaccinated groups after infection with *L. major* are summarized in Table 6.

As a control for cell viability, splenocytes were stimulated with a mitogen, con A. The cells from all the groups stimulated with con A showed high degrees of proliferative responses over the ones stimulated with *Lm*SEAgs and medium (P<0.05). In addition, the results of these cultures demonstrated that the degree of proliferation of cells from all the groups stimulated with con A was almost equivalent with no statistical significance among the groups.

The proliferative responses of splenocyte cultures to *Lm*SEAgs obtained from mice that had been vaccinated with *Lm*SEAgs + BCG was significantly higher compared to the control unvaccinated group (P=0.008; mean ± SE,  $0.536 \pm 0.04$  vs Mean ± S.E,  $0.312 \pm 0.017$ ).

For the group of mice vaccinated with LmSEAgs alone, the proliferative response was significantly higher (P=0.002; mean  $\pm$  S.E., 0.558 $\pm$  0.006) compared to the control unvaccinated mice.

While for the group of mice vaccinated with BCG, there was a significant high proliferative response compared to the controls (P < 0.01; mean  $\pm$  S.E., 0.617  $\pm$  0.001).

However, there was no significant difference in the proliferative responses of splenocytes of groups of mice vaccinated with LmSEAgs + BCG, LmSEAgs alone and BCG alone (P > 0.05).

Table 6: Mean optical density (OD) readings (540 nm) of *in vitro* proliferative responses of splenocytes one week and four weeks post vaccination, of mice vaccinated after challenge with *L. major*.

	Proliferative responses one week after vaccination Mean OD readings ( 540 nm) ± S.E			Proliferative responses four weeks after vaccination			
				Stimulation index (540 nm) ± S.E			
Treatment groups	LmSEAgs	Medium	P value compared to the unvaccinated control	<i>Lm</i> SEAgs	Medium	P value compared to the unvaccinated control	
LmSEAgs	0.558± 0.006	0.369± 0.012	0.002	$0.845 \pm 0.042$	0.407± 0.026	0.006	
LmSEAgs+ BCG	$0.536 \pm 0.04$	$0.337 \pm 0.024$	0.008	$0.781 \pm 0.027$	$0.317 \pm 0.033$	< 0.01	
BCG	$0.617 \pm 0.001$	$0.380 \pm 0.008$	< 0.01	$1.021 \pm 0.049$	$0.408 \pm 0.021$	< 0.01	
PBS	$0.312 \pm 0.017$	0.303± 0.028	N/A	$0.313 \pm 0.035$	0.307± 0.002	N/A	

- Bacille Calmette Guerin

Key: BCG LmSEAgs

Leishmania major soluble exo-antigens

PBS

Phosphate

## 3.2.2 Lymphoproliferative responses of splenocyte cultures four weeks post vaccination

The second cell proliferation assay carried out on the  $28^{th}$  day after booster vaccinations. The *in vitro* lymphocyte proliferative responses of unstimulated and *Lm*SEAgs stimulated splenocytes of mice who had received *Lm*SEAgs + BCG, *Lm*SEAgs alone, BCG alone and the control unvaccinated groups are summarized in Table 6.

There was a significant increase in the proliferative responses to LmSEAgs at 28 days post vaccination as compared to 7 days post vaccination in all the vaccinated groups (P < 0.05) an indication of recall proliferative responses.

In the group of mice vaccinated with LmSEAgs + BCG the proliferative response of splenocyte cultures to LmSEAgs was significantly higher compared to 7 days post vaccination (P=0.04; mean  $\pm$  S.E.,  $0.781 \pm 0.027 vs 0.536 \pm 0.04$ ).

While for the group of mice vaccinated with LmSEAgs there was an increase in the proliferative response of splenocyte culture compared to 7 days post infection (*P*=0.02; mean  $\pm$  S.E., 0.845 $\pm$  0.042 vs 0.558 $\pm$  0.006).

Finally for the group vaccinated with BCG alone there was a marked increase in the proliferative response compared to 7 days post vaccination (P < 0.01; mean  $\pm$  S.E., 1.021  $\pm$  0.049 vs 0.617  $\pm$  0.001).

The proliferative response of splenocytes from mice immunized with LmSEAgs + BCG, LmSEAgs alone and BCG alone differed significantly among the groups (P=0.01).

#### 3.2.3 Cytokine production

#### 3.2.3.1 Interferon gamma production of splenocyte cultures a week post vaccination.

The mean production of IFN- $\gamma$  production by splenocytes of mice vaccinated with *Lm*SEAgs + BCG in response to *in vitro* stimulation with *Lm*SEAgs was significantly higher (*P* < 0.01) compared to the control unvaccinated group (Table 7). The BCG group produced high levels of IFN- $\gamma$  (*P*< 0.01; mean ± S.E; 481.106 ± 25.847 pg/ml) compared to the unvaccinated control group. Finally mice vaccinated with *Lm*SEAgs had significantly high production of IFN- $\gamma$  (*P*< 0.01; mean ± S.E., 473.78 ± 14.676 pg/ml) compared to the controls.

However there was no significant difference in the *in vitro* production of IFN- $\gamma$  in mice vaccinated with *Lm*SEAgs + BCG, *Lm*SEAgs alone and BCG alone (*P* = 0.08).

	Mean IFN-y production one w	eek after vaccination	Mean IFN-y production four weeks after infection		
Treatment groups	Mean production of IFN-γ (pg/ml) induced by LmSEAgs	Mean IFN-γ production (pg/ml) by cells in medium	Mean production of IFN-γ (pg/ml) induced by LmSEAgs	Mean IFN-γ production (pg/ml) by cells in medium	
LmSEAgs	473.78 ± 14.676	15.143 ± 0.282	$1103.249 \pm 40.850$	9.143 ± 3.742	
LmSEAgs + BCG	384.973 ± 36.336	12.225 ± 2.831	1165.548 ± 60.073	8.558 ± 0.502	
BCG	481.106 ± 25.847	10.339 ± 1.897	967.156 ± 50.769	10.339 ± 1.897	
PBS	82.077 ± 2.646	11.645 ± 5.378	$389.382 \pm 25.399$	$0.000 \pm 0.000$	

Table 7: In vitro IFN- $\gamma$  production (mean ± SE) one week and four weeks after vaccination of mice challenged before vaccination.

Key: BCG LmSEAgs

PBS

Bacille Calmette Guerin

- Leishmania major soluble exo-antigens

- Phosphate

-

### 3.2.3.2 Interferon gamma production of splenocyte cultures four weeks post vaccination

The levels of IFN- $\gamma$  were determined at 28 days in the groups of mice vaccinated with LmSEAgs + BCG, LmSEAgs alone, BCG alone and control (Table 7). There was a significant increase in the level of IFN- $\gamma$  produced by the group of mice vaccinated with LmSEAgs + BCG as compared to the amount produced one week post vaccination (P= 0.01). In addition there was a significant increase in the level of IFN- $\gamma$  produced by spleen cells stimulated with LmSEAgs in vitro from the LmSEAgs group compared to one week after infection with L. major (P= 0.002). This was a highly significant difference. A significant increase of IFN- $\gamma$  production was also observed in the spleen cells stimulated splenocytes from the BCG group stimulated by LmSEAgs (P=0.01) compared to the earlier production of interferon gamma.

Overall, there was an increase in the amount of IFN- $\gamma$  detected in splenocyte culture in the group of mice vaccinated with *Lm*SEAgs + BCG, BCG alone and *Lm*SEAgs alone compared to the controls (P< 0.05).

## 3.2.3.3 In vitro interleukin-4 production of splenocyte cultures a week after post vaccination

The mean production of IL-4 seven days post vaccination by splenocytes of mice vaccinated with LmSEAgs + BCG, LmSEAgs alone, BCG alone and control unvaccinated in response to *in vitro* stimulation with LmSEAgs are summarized in Table 8. There was relatively low production of IL-4 by splenocytes from mice vaccinated with LmSEAgs + BCG, LmSEAgs alone and BCG alone. That did not differ significantly from each other (P> 0.05). However, this production was significantly lower than the controls (P < 0.05).

Splenocytes from mice vaccinated with LmSEAgs + BCG produced the high level of IL-4 among the vaccinated groups when stimulated *in vitro* with LmSEAgs (P < 0.01; mean  $\pm$  S.E., 78.318  $\pm$  10.380). 

 Table 8:
 In vitro Interleukin-4 production (mean ± SE) one week and four weeks after vaccination of mice that were challenged before vaccination

	Mean IL-4 production one we	ek post vaccination	Mean IL-4 production four weeks post vaccination	
Treatment groups	Mean production of IL-4 (pg/ml) induced by LmSEAgs	Mean IL-4 production (pg/ml) by cells in medium	Mean production of IL-4 (pg/ml) induced by LmSEAgs	Mean IL-4 production (pg/ml) by cells in medium
LmSEAgs	66.922 ± 2.341	11.449 ± 0.819	22.441 ± 3.440	$0.000 \pm 0.000$
LmSEAgs + BCG	79.318 ± 10.380	$12.845 \pm 0.393$	32.143 ± 2.869	1.069 ± 3.253
BCG	65.522 ± 11.618	15.219 ± 0.456	13.006 ± 1.993	$0.000 \pm 0.000$
PBS	$121.079 \pm 6.634$	13.618 ± 1.971	$176.123 \pm 8.945$	$6.796 \pm 6.100$

Key:	BCG		Bacille Calmette Guerin
	<b>LmSEAgs</b>	-	Leishmania major soluble exo-antigens
	PBS	-	Phosphate

### 3.2.3.4 In vitro Interleukin-4 production of splenocyte cultures four weeks post vaccination

There was a significant in decrease IL-4 production in all the vaccinated groups on the  $28^{th}$  day post vaccination with *L. major* (*P* > 0.05). However in the control unvaccinated group there was a 2.8 fold increase in IL-4 produced compared to 7 days post vaccination. Data on IL-4 production 28 days post vaccination is summarized in Table 8.

In the group of mice vaccinated with LmSEAgs + BCG there was a significant decrease in IL-4 production (P= 0.01; mean  $\pm$  S.E., 79.318  $\pm$  10.380 vs 32.651  $\pm$ 1.669 pg/ml) compared to the IL-4 production 7 days post vaccination.

The splenocytes from mice vaccinated with BCG also had a significant reduction in IL-4 production compared to 7 days post vaccination (P = 0.01; mean  $\pm$  S.E., 13.006 $\pm$ 1.993pg/ml) that represented a 2.9 fold decrease.

In the group of mice vaccinated with *Lm*SEAgs there was a significant decrease in the IL-4 production (mean  $\pm$  S.E., 22.441  $\pm$  3.440 vs 66.922  $\pm$  2.241 pg/ml *P* < 0.01) compared to 7 days post vaccination.

On the overall, the controls unvaccinated but *L. major* challenged mice produced the highest amount of IL-4 compared to the treatment groups (mean  $\pm$  S.E., 176.123  $\pm$  8.945pg/ml) and differed significantly from the vaccinated groups (*P*<0.01).

# 3.2.4 Results of lesion size measurements for BALB/c mice vaccinated 21 days post infection with 10<sup>5</sup> L. major metacyclic promastigotes.

In order to evaluate the effect of vaccination of LmSEAgs alone, LmSEAgs + BCG, BCG alone and PBS as the control on disease progression in L .major infected mice; lesion size was followed by measuring the increase in the thickness of the infected foot compared with the contralateral uninfected footpad on a week-to-week basis. As shown (Figure 11) lesions had not developed in all the groups of mice between days 0 and 7.

To evaluate the efficacy of BCG plus *Lm*SEAgs, lesion size was compared with that in unvaccinated controls. The lesion development started at the end of week 1. At week 2, 3 and 4 the lesions were not significantly different from the controls (P> 0.05). From week 5 to week 10 there was a steady reduction in lesion sizes that was significantly different from the unvaccinated controls (P< 0.01).

In the group of mice vaccinated with LmSEAgs alone, lesion development started at the end of the first week. From week 2 to week 10 lesion sizes were significantly smaller compared to the controls (P < 0.01).

In mice vaccinated with BCG lesion development started at the end of the first week. From week 2 to week 8 lesion sizes were significantly smaller compared to the controls (P<0.01). By the end of week 9 the mice had no lesions.

Mice in the control unvaccinated but *L. major* challenged group developed large progressive footpad lesions reaching a peak at week 10 (mean  $\pm$  S.E.,  $1.2 \pm 0.071$  mm, Figure 10).

It was also demonstrated that lesion sizes of mice vaccinated with LmSEAgs + BCG compared to those of BCG were not statistically significant (P>0.05). For LmSEAgs plus BCG compared with LmSEAgs the lesion sizes did not differ significantly (P=0.508). While for LmSEAgs compared to BCG was not significantly different (P>0.05).

Unvaccinated control groups were euthanatized if they reached a predetermined level of lesion severity and/or displayed clinical signs of distress or pain.



Figure 11: Lesion sizes measurements for BALB/c mice vaccinated twice subcutaneously with various regimes after challenge with *L*.major.

Key:	BCG ImSEAgs	1	Bacille Calmette Guerin Leishmania major soluble exo-antigens
	PBS	-	Phosphate

### 3.2.5 Quantification of *L. major* in infected footpads of BALB/c mice vaccinated 21 days post infection.

The number of *L. major* parasites present in the infected footpads was quantified at 21, 35. 49 and 63 days post infection using a limiting dilution assay (Lima *et al.*, 1997). Results in Table 9 shows that at 21 days post infection, *L. major* parasites were detected in both the vaccinated and unvaccinated groups of mice. The number of *L. major* in the footpads from mice vaccinated with BCG, *Lm*SEAgs + BCG and *Lm*SEAgs was lower than that of the controls at 21 days post infection, however the differences between the groups were not significant (P > 0.05).

The parasite burden in the groups of mice vaccinated with *Lm*SEAgs alone, *Lm*SEAgs + BCG and BCG alone differed significantly (P<0.05) from those of the control unvaccinated mice as the disease progressed as quantified at days 35, 49 and 63 post infection. The lowest parasite load was recorded in the BCG group that had a parasite load of 0.525 x 10<sup>3</sup> compared to 77.5 x 10<sup>6</sup> in the controls.

The parasite load in the *Lm*SEAgs + BCG vaccinated BALB/c mice footpads were 155 fold less than the control unvaccinated group at day 63. While in the group of mice vaccinated with *Lm*SEAgs alone, the parasite load was 33.9 to 129.2 fold less than the unvaccinated controls at day 35 and 49 respectively. The parasite burden in these two groups did not differ from each (P > 0.05). Finally, the parasite load in mice vaccinated with BCG was 14,761 fold less than the control unvaccinated mice at day 63.

The figures obtained from LmSEAgs, LmSEAgs + BCG were statistically lower than those of the unvaccinated mice (P < 0.05). On the other hand, parasite burdens in the unvaccinated control increased steadily as the disease progressed.

Overall, the parasite burdens in the footpads of mice vaccinated with *Lm*SEAgs, *Lm*SEAgs + BCG alone did not differ significantly from each other but were significantly different from the unvaccinated control mice (P < 0.05).

Table 9: Parasite burden in mice vaccinated with various regimens after challenge with L. major during the course of infection.

Day	Experimental groups (No. of <i>L. major</i> (10 <sup>6</sup> )/footpad (95% confidence limits)						
	Control	LmSEAgs	LmSEAgs + BCG	BCG			
21	15.45(19.4-11.5)	8.2(12.5-3.99)	9.35(11.9-6.75)	4.97 (2.63-6.75)*			
35	32.5(53 -11.6)	3.44(0.595-6.09)	6.46(7.08-5.49)	0.1635(0.188-0.139) **			
49	53.5(67.5-39.9)	1.58(1.83-1.32)*	1.54(1.94-1.15)*	0.0065(0.273-0.002) **			
63	77.5(125.5-29.1)	0.6(0.9-0.3)*	0.5(0.95-0.15)*	0.005(0.008-0.003) **			

(\*) P < 0.05 parasite burden is significantly different from mice that received PBS (control unvaccinated group).

### **Chapter 4- DISCUSSION, CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS**

#### 4.1 Introduction

Several vaccines candidates against leishmaniasis have been identified although no vaccine has been discovered yet (Handman. 2001; Kedzierski *et al.*, 2006). In this study *Leishmania major* soluble exo-antigens (*Lm*SEAgs) which have been previously identified as immunogenic were investigated in combination with BCG. These *Lm*SEAgs have been shown to elicit a protective immune response against challenge with *L. major* in susceptible BALB/c mice, in absence of any adjuvant (Tonui *et al.*, 2004). In addition they have also been shown to protect neonatal BALB/c mice from challenge with *L. major* (Tonui *et al.*, 2006). On the other hand BCG has also been successfully used as an adjuvant in various animal and clinical *Leishmania* vaccine studies (Sharifi *et al.*, 1998; Misra *et al.*, 2001). This study sought to investigate the adjuvant potential of BCG with *Lm*SEAgs in vaccination against Leishmaniasis. The study was done in two experimental set-ups; immunoprophylaxis and immunotherapy.

#### 4.2 Immunoprophylaxis of combination of BCG and LmSEAgs

Animal models of cutaneous leishmaniasis indicate that Th1 responses are essential for protection by vaccination (Latifynia and Hazrati, 2008). These Th1 responses are predicated on the induction of high levels of IFN- $\gamma$  and low levels of IL-4. The production of IFN- $\gamma$  after stimulation of lymphocytes with leishmanial antigen has been considered one of the best correlates of resistance (Gicheru *et al.*, 2001). Interferon-gamma a Th1 cytokine is known to be a strong inducer of: the macrophage enzyme inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS) that produce nitric oxide (Serarslan and Atik. 2005). *Leishmania major* replicates intracellularly

in macrophages, and effective control requires macrophage activation and nitric oxide (NO)mediated killing in response to the Th1-produced cytokine IFN- $\gamma$  (Stacey and Blackwell, 1999). This was demonstrated in this study by the fact that the levels of Interferon gamma increased significantly compared to the control group while the levels of IL-4 was significantly low (P<0.01). In this study the immunoprophylactic potential of the combination of BCG and *Lm*SEAgs was investigated. The results show that combination of BCG + *Lm*SEAgs conferred protection in BALB/ c mice challenged with *L. major*.

In this study IL-4 production by mice injected with combination of BCG and *Lm*SEAgs was significantly lower than IFN- $\gamma$  (*P* <0.01). In addition the IL-4 production after infection was 2.4 fold lower than it was before infection. Uncontrolled, non-healing lesions are associated with the proliferation of Th2 cells and the production of IL-4 resulting in an ineffective antiparasite response. This is accomplished by IL-4 promoting the differentiation of naive T cells into IL-4-secreting Th2 cells and suppressing IFN- $\gamma$  responses (Seder *et al.*, 1992; Noben-Trauth, 2000). This results in a skewing toward Th2 responses that is thought to be involved in the susceptibility to infectious diseases such as leishmaniasis (Noben-Trauth, 2000). In addition IL-4 is known to suppress the production of IFN- $\gamma$  resulting in exacerbation of BCG and *Lm*SEAgs resulted in low production of IL-4 and high IFN- $\gamma$  thus resulting in protection. The high production of IFN- $\gamma$  lead to activation of macrophages and induction of nitric oxide to kill the parasite. On the other hand the unvaccinated (control) group developed large uncontrolled lesions that were characterized by low levels of IFN- $\gamma$  and high levels of IL-4.

Tracking lesion size (as a measure of the pathologic response to infection) is one method of monitoring the development of infection with *L. major* (Al-Wabel *et al.*, 2007). The protective effects of BCG and *Lm*SEAgs are supported by the fact that the lesion sizes in the vaccinated mice reduced significantly compared to the unvaccinated controls. The mice vaccinated with a combination of *Lm*SEAgs and BCG initially had a steady increase in the lesion sizes, with a significant difference being reported at week six (P<0.05) post infection, at this point a decrease in lesion was observed until the 9<sup>th</sup> week.

Overall, the mice were protected from the disease as demonstrated by the reduction in lesion sizes and subsequent recovery. Tracking the parasite burden in unvaccinated (control) or vaccinated mice challenged with L. major is thought to add weight to the data from lesions sizes. In that control of infection should be a result of both reduction lesion sizes and parasite burden (Al-Wabel et al., 2007). Lima et al., (1997) suggest that interpreting experiments with Leishmania based on lesion size alone can be quite misleading. Therefore, it is imperative to monitor parasite burden when testing any vaccine for leishmaniasis. Congruent with this, in this study, the parasite numbers were determined using published techniques (Lima et al., 1997). In the group of mice vaccinated with a combination of BCG and LmSEAgs, there was a strong correlation between the parasite burdens and the lesions sizes. This was evidenced by a decrease in the lesion sizes as well as in the parasite numbers. On the 9<sup>th</sup> week the parasite burden was 75 fold lower than the control. The reduction in lesion sizes and parasite numbers during the course of infection is due to a Th1-dominated response, with high production of IFN-y. This consequently led to induction of inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS) in the infected macrophages that resulted in the activation of macrophages thus killing intracellular parasites (Noben-Trauth et al., 2003; Cruz et al., 2006).

In vitro lymphocyte cell proliferation is one of the immunological parameters used to assess the development of Th-1 responses to leishmanial antigens (Gicheru *et al.*, 2001). The study found that *Lm*SEAgs stimulated splenocytes from BALB/c mice vaccinated with combination of BCG and *Lm*SEAgs. This proliferation was significantly higher than the controls P < 0.05 Indicating induction of a recall response.

In this study the protective potential of a combination of BCG and LmSEAgs was compared with that of BCG alone. There was no significant difference in the protection conferred to mice vaccinated with a combination of BCG and LmSEAgs in comparison to the BCG vaccinated group (P>0.05). This was observed in all the parameters measured. However vaccination with BCG alone compared to the unvaccinated (controls) was found to induce healing and protection from disease. Results from this group demonstrated high IFN-  $\gamma$ levels production compared to the controls (P=0.01). This indicated a Th1-dominated response, with high production of IFN-y and consequently induction of inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS) in the infected macrophages that resulted in the activation of macrophages to kill intracellular parasites (Noben-Trauth et al., 2003; Cruz et al., 2006). In addition the lesion sizes were small compared to the unvaccinated (controls) P < 0.01. These results were further corroborated with low parasite numbers in the lesion sizes compared to the control (P < 0.01) and with low IL-4 production from splenocytes from this group compared to the control (P < 0.05). Further to this there was 2 fold reduction in the IL-4 production after infection. The ability of BCG alone to confer protection against leishmaniasis is presumably due to antigenic cross-reactivity between Mycobacteria and Leishmania (Roberts, 2006). This antigenic cross-reactivity between Mycobacterium and Leishmania has been documented (Almahamoodi et al., 2002). In experimental murine leishmaniasis, innate

immunity is controlled by Lsh gene that is thought to be identical to the BCG gene hence cross antigenic reaction between BCG and *Leishmania*.

The use of BCG as an adjuvant is regarded as an acceptable practice in man, and at present this adjuvant is routinely used in vaccination. It is used alone or in combination with other antigens is routinely in vaccination trials against leishmaniasis (Ghalib and Moddaber, 2007). The results from this study are in agreement with previous findings where BCG has been demonstrated to enhance the protective effects of various vaccine candidates. A study by Khalil *et al.* (2000) in Sudan found no evidence that two doses of ALM plus BCG offered significant protective immunity against leishmaniasis compared with BCG alone. While Misra *et al* (2001) demonstrated that a single dose of alum precipitated autoclaved *L. major* vaccine in combination with BCG could give successful protection against parasite challenge. While in Ecuador using the langur model for leishmaniasis, two doses of vaccine composed of *L. amazonensis* and *L. mexicana* mixed with BCG was shown to induce protection (Armijos *et al.*, 2004).

In addition to comparing the protective potential of a combination BCG and LmSEAgs with that of BCG alone, a comparison was also drawn with LmSEAgs alone. Similarly no significant protective potential in the group vaccinated with BCG and LmSEAgs was observed compared to the group vaccinated with LmSEAgs alone (P>0.05). However results obtained in this group concur with previous finding where LmSEAgs have been demonstrated to the protective (Tonui *et al.*, 2004; Tonui and Titus, 2006). This was evidenced by a shift towards the Th-1 path where the highest production of IFN- $\gamma$  was noted that was highly significant compared to the unvaccinated (control) (P< 0.01). Also there was a low IL-4 production compared to the control. This was further supported by small lesion
sizes (P < 0.05) from week 4 that was maintained to the end of the experiment compared to the controls suggesting protection.

Lastly the parasite burdens in the infected lesions also significantly reduced during the course of the study. In the last experiment the parasite load was 232 fold less than the controls. The results gave a clear indication of protection. These results are in agreement with previous studies that have demonstrated *Lm*SEAgs alone are highly immunogenic and are able to elicit significant protection against challenge with *L. major* in susceptible BALB/c mice (Tonui *et al.*, 2004). In addition the results from the group of mice vaccinated with *Lm*SEAgs alone concur with the findings of Tonui and Titus, (2006) that *Lm*SEAgs were able to confer resistance to vaccinated neonatal susceptible BALB/c mice when challenge with *L. major*. In an earlier study Webb *et al* (1998) demonstrated that leishmanial culture filtrate proteins plus *Corynebacterium parvum* induced a mixed type 1 and type 2 response and resistance to infection with *L. major* when injected in mice. Al-wabel *et al* (2007) showed that nuclease hydrolase an isolate of the *Lm*SEAgs was able to confer resistance to mice against *L. major* challenge. The results from the group of mice vaccinated with *Lm*SEAgs alone are in agreement with the finding from the studies mentioned studies that *Lm*SEAgs alone are able to protect mice from infection with *L. major*.

# 4.3 Immunotherapeutic potential of combination of BCG and LmSEAgs

The results show that combination of BCG and *Lm*SEAgs cured BALB/ c mice challenged with *L. major*. This was demonstrated by the fact that the levels of IFN- $\gamma$  increased significantly compared to the control group while the levels of IL-4 was significantly low. However in the second cytokine experiment there was a significant (*P*< 0.05) increase in the

IFN- $\gamma$  production in this BCG and *Lm*SEAgs group. Interferon-gamma is known to be a strong inducer of: the macrophage enzyme inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS) (Serarslan and Atik, 2005). The high IFN- $\gamma$  production observed in this group resulted in effective macrophage activation and nitric oxide (NO) mediated cytokine (Stacey and Blackwell. 1999). This consequently led to destruction *Leishmania major* that replicates intracellulary in macrophages.

In murine L. major infection, resistance is associated with the capacity of CD4 Th1 cells to generate IFN-y (Cabera et al., 2000). The down regulation of Th2 and up regulation of Th1 results in control of the infection observed in this study. This was demonstrated by low IL-4 production by mice injected with combination of BCG and LmSEAgs than IFN- $\gamma$  (P <0.01). In addition the IL-4 production after infection was significantly lower than before infection (P=0.01). Interferon gamma, secreted by Th1 cells, is the most potent macrophage-activating cytokine leading to host resistance to infection with Leishmania parasites whereas IL-4 secreted by Th2 cells, is associated with down-regulation of IFN-y-mediated macrophage activation (Sacks and Noben-Trauth. 2002). The protection observed in this group concurs with a study by Cabrera et al., (2000) that reported that immunotherapy with BCG enhances proliferative responses and IFN-y production to the promastigotes antigens, as well as IFN-y production to BCG. This was observed in the current study, splenocytes injected with a combination of BCG and LmSEAgs proliferated in response to in vitro stimulation with LmSEAgs compared to the control groups both one week post treatment and four weeks after treatment with the named substances (P < 0.05). It is a widely accepted fact that cellular immune responses play a vital role in the pathogenesis and healing of leishmaniasis see Garg et al., (2005).

The protective effects of a combination of BCG and *Lm*SEAgs were supported by the fact that the lesion sizes in the treated mice reduced significantly compared to the unvaccinated controls. In the mice vaccinated with a combination of *Lm*SEAgs and BCG a significant difference was noted on day 35 post infection and day 14 post vaccination (P<0.05). Overall, the mice were protected from the disease as demonstrated by the reduction in lesion sizes and subsequent recovery. Congruent with this, in this study, the parasite numbers were determined using published techniques (Lima *et al.*, 1997). In the group of mice vaccinated with a combination of BCG and *Lm*SEAgs, there was a correlation between the parasite burdens and the lesions sizes. This was evidenced by a decrease in the lesion sizes as well as in the parasite numbers. On the 5<sup>th</sup> week the parasite burden was 155 fold lower than the control. The reduction in lesion sizes and parasite numbers during the course of infection is due to a Th1-dominated response, with high production of IFN- $\gamma$ . This consequently led to induction of inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS) in the infected macrophages that resulted in the activation of macrophages thus killing intracellular parasites (Noben-Trauth *et al.*, 2003).

The question that arises is how BCG mediates its immunotherapeutic effect. BCG is known to activate macrophages to produce TNF $\alpha$  and nitric oxide which could contribute to leishmanicidal activity (Marshall *et al.*, 1997). However, since parasitized macrophages in the lesion are at sites remote from administration of the BCG, this is not likely to directly contribute to the therapeutic effect. The nonspecific activation of macrophages will, however, act as a local adjuvant in promoting T cell responses to both BCG and leishmanial antigens. The ability of BCG to trigger IL-12 production by macrophages, which is enhanced in the presence of natural killer cells, will bias this towards a Th1 response (Matsumoto *et al.*, 1997).

In this study the immunotherapeutic potential, of BCG was investigated as a positive control compared with that of the unvaccinated (control). Results of this study show that immunotherapy is associated with enhanced antigen specific IFN- $\gamma$  responses. There was significant high production of IFN- $\gamma$  in the BCG group compared to the controls (P<0.01). This is consistent with a shift in balance of T cell response towards a Th1 response, and suggests that cure is mediated by IFN- $\gamma$ . These finding are in agreement with results by Convit *et al.*, (1989) that reported immunotherapy using a combination of heat killed *Leishmania amazonensis* promastigotes and live Bacille Calmette Gue<sup>\*</sup>rin (BCG) was effective at resolving CL. In addition IL-4 production was significantly lower than the IFN- $\gamma$  and also as compared to the controls (P< 0.01). This shift towards Th-1 contributed to the control of the disease and cure.

Progression of disease in *L. major* infection has been correlated with the production of IL-4, IL-5, by CD4 T helper 2 (Th2) cells (Scott *et al.*, 1988, Sack and Noben-Trauth, 2002). This was not observed in this group as the IL-4 production was low with high IFN- $\gamma$ . As earlier stated tracking the parasite burden in unvaccinated (control) or vaccinated mice challenged with *L. major* is thought to boost the data from lesions sizes (AI-Wabel *et al.*, 2007). The parasite burden was 15,500 fold less than the controls at the end of the study. In addition to this the lesion size was significantly lower as compared to the unvaccinated (controls) from week 4 post infection. The parasite burden and the lesion sizes correlated to each other **as is** expected. This reduction can be linked with the production of IFN- $\gamma$  (Scott *et al.* 1988; Noben-Trauth, 2000), which activates the parasitized macrophage to kill the intracellular *Leishmania* (Mosmann and Coffman, 1989). On the overall the results from this group are in

agreement with those from (Frommel & Lagrange 1989) that concluded that in mice. BCG alone administered at a site remote to the lesions is capable of mediating protection or cure.

Finally there was also a group that was treated with *Lm*SEAgs. These antigens were found to be immunotherapeutic as demonstrated by significantly high IFN- $\gamma$  production that was lower than the unvaccinated (controls) (*P*< 0.05). Further to this there was a correlation between the lesion sizes and the parasite burdens, whereby a reduction in both the lesion sizes and parasite burdens was observed as the disease progressed. However the parasite burden reduction was not as remarkable compared to the BCG group at day 63. The parasite numbers were 15,500 fold less than control while that of *Lm*SEAgs was 129 fold less compared than the control. Interestingly the lesion sizes in this group were not significantly different from those of vaccinated with BCG. Lima *et al.*, (1997) concluded that interpreting experiments with *Leishmania* based on lesion size alone can be quite misleading. This was the case in the group of mice vaccinated with *Lm*SEAgs. Therefore, the need to monitor parasite burden in addition lesion sizes leishmaniasis. This probably implies that *Lm*SEAgs is not a good immunotherapeutic agent as BCG. In that when it is administered in a site far-off from the lesion it is not capable of mediating cure. It is probable that *Lm*SEAgs lacks the natural stimulus of Thl immune responses, present in BCG.

Leishmania major exo-antigens are known to be highly immunogenic (Ryan *et al.*, 2002) and proved to be protect mice from subsequent challenge by *L.major* (Tonui *et al.*, 2004). The protection is associated with high IFN- $\gamma$ , by low lesion sizes and low parasite burdens in comparison to the unvaccinated control. This trend was demonstrated in the immunotherapeutic set-up in the current study.

#### 4.4 Conclusions

From this study the following conclusion can be drawn:

- Bacille Calmette Gue'rin as an adjuvant did not enhance the immunoprophylactic or immunotherapeutic potential of *Lm*SEAgs.
- Bacille Calmette Gue'rin had both immunoprophylactic and immunotherapeutic protective effect in murine leishmaniasis.
- There was no significant difference in the immunotherapeutic and immunoprophylactic effects of BCG combined with LmSEAgs.

#### 4.4 Recommendations

This study focused on evaluating the immunoprophylactic and immunotherapeutic effects of BCG combined with *Lm*SEAgs in cutaneous leishmaniasis. Further studies should be done to search for molecules with potential of enhancing the immunotherapeutic and immunoprophylactic effects of *Lm*SEAgs in vaccination against other forms of leishmaniasis including visceral and mucocutaneous leishmaniasis.

### **CHAPTER 5-REFERENCES**

Aebischer T., Wolfram M., Patzer S.I., Ilg T., Wiese M. and Overath P. (2000). Subunit vaccination of mice against New World Cutaneous Leishmaniasis: comparison of three proteins expressed in amastigotes and six adjuvants. *Infection and Immunity*, 68: 1228-1336.

Ahmed S.B., Bahloul C., Robbana C., Askri S. and Dellagi K. (2004). A comparative evaluation of different DNA vaccine candidates against experimental murine leishmaniasis due to *L. major. Vaccine*, **22**: 1631-1639.

Ajdary S., Alimohammadian M.H., Eslami M.B., Kemp K. and Kharazmi A. (2000). Comparison of the immune profile of nonhealing cutaneous leishmaniasis patients with those with active lesions and those who have recovered from infection. *Infection and Immunity*, 68: 1760-1764.

Akilov O.E., Khachemoune A. and Hassan T. (2007). Clinical manifestations and classification of Old World cutaneous leishmaniasis. *International Journal of Dermatology*, **46**: 132-142.

Alexander J., Coombs G.H. and Mottram J.C. (1998). Leishmania mexicana cysteine proteinase-deficient mutants have attenuated virulence for mice and potentiate a Th1 response. Journal of Immunology, 161: 6794-6801.

Alimohammadi., M.H., Darabi.H., Kariminia.A., Rivier.D., Bovay.P., Mauel.J., Ajdary.S and Kharazmi.A.(2002). Adjuvant Effect of *Leishmania major* Promastigotes on the Immune Response of Mice to Ovalbumin. *Iranian Biomedical Journal*, 6:123-128

Almeida M.C., Vilhena V., Barral A. and Barral-Netto M (2003) Leishmanial infection: analysis of its first steps. A review. *Memorias do Instituto Oswaldo Cruz*, 98, 861-870.

Al-Wabel A.M., Tonui W.K., Cui L., Martin S.M. and Titus R.G. (2007). Protection of Susceptible BALB/c Mice from Challenge with *Leishmania major* by Nucleoside Hydrolase, a Soluble Exo-antigen of *Leishmania. American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene*, 77: 1060–1065.

Amaral V.F., Teva A., Oliveira-Neto M.P., Silva A.J., Pereira M.S., Cupolillo E., Porrozzi R., Coutinho S.G., Pirmez C., Beverley S.M. and Grimaldi G. Jr. (2002). Study of the safety, immunogenicity and efficacy of attenuated and killed *Leishmania* (*Leishmania*) *major* vaccines in a rhesus monkey (*Macaca mulatta*) model of the human disease. *Memorias do Instituto Oswaldo Cruz*, 97: 1041-1048.

**Araujo Z., El Bouhdidi A., Heremans H., Marck E., Caste M. and Carlier Y.** (1999). Vaccination of mice with a combination of BCG and killed *Leishmania* promastigotes reduces acute *Trypanosoma cruzi* infection by promoting an IFN-γ response. *Vaccine*, 17: 957-964.

Arias J.R., Monteiro P. and Zicker F. (1996). The re-emergence of visceral leishmaniasis in Brasil. *Emerging Infectious Diseases*, 2: 145-146.

Armijos R.X., Weigel M.M., Calvopina M., Hidalgo A., Cevallos W. and Correa J. (2004). Safety, immunogenicity, and efficacy of an autoclaved *Leishmania amazonensis* vaccine plus BCG adjuvant against New World cutaneous leishmaniasis. *Vaccine*; 22:1320–1326.

Badaro R., Lobo I., Nakatani M., Muiños A., Netto E.M., Coler R.N. and Reed S.G. (2001). Successful use of a defined antigen/GM-CSF adjuvant vaccine to treat mucosal Leishmaniasis refractory to antimony: A case report. *Brazilian Journal of Infectious Diseases*, 5: 233-234.

**Banuls A., Hide M and Prugnolle F.** (2007) Leishmania and the Leishmaniases: A Parasite Genetic Update and Advances in Taxonomy, Epidemiology and Pathogenicity in Humans. *Advances in parasitology*, **64**: 1-109.

Bates P.A. (1993). Axenic culture of Leishmania amastigotes. Parasitology Today, 9: 143-6.

**Belkaid Y., Piccirillo C.A., Mendez S., Shevach E.M. and Sacks D.L.** (2002). CD4<sup>+</sup>CD25<sup>+</sup> regulatory T cells control *Leishmania major* persistence and immunity. *Nature*, 420: 502-507.

Berman J.D. (1997) Human leishmaniasis: clinical, diagnostic, and chemotherapeutic developments in the last 10 years. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, 24: 684–703.

Blum J., Desjeux P., Schwartz E., Beck B and Hatz C. (2004) Treatment of cutaneous leishmaniasis among travellers. *Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy*, 53:158–66.

Boakye D.A., Wilson M.D. and Kweku M. (2005). A review of leishmaniasis in West Africa. Ghana Medical Journal, 39: 94-97.

Boelaert M. Rijal S, and Regmi S. (2004). Comparative study of the effectiveness of diagnostic tests for visceral leishmaniasis. *American Journal of Tropical Medical and Hygiene*, 70: 72-7.

**Bourreau E., Pascalis H., Prévot G., Kariminia A., Jolly N., Milon G., Buffet P., Michel R., Meynard J.-B., Boutin J.-P., Aschimoff D. and Launois P.** (2003). Increased production of interferon- $\gamma$  by *Leishmania* homologue of the mammalian receptor for activated C kinase-Reactive CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells among human blood mononuclear cells: An early marker of exposure to *Leishmania? Scandinavian Journal of Immunology*, **58**: 201–210.

Burchmore R.J.S., Rodriguez-Contreras D., McBride K., Barrett M.P., Modi G., Sacks D., and Landfear S.M. (2003). Genetic characterization of glucose transporter function in *Leishmania mexicana*. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, USA, 100: 3901-3906.

**Cabrera M., Blackwell J.M., Castes M., Trujillo D., Convit J. and Shaw M.A.** (2000). Immunotherapy with live BCG plus heat killed *Leishmania* induces a T helper 1-like response in American cutaneous leishmaniasis patients. *Parasite Immunology*, **22**: 73-79. **Campos-Neto** A. (2005). What about Th1/Th2 in cutaneous leishmaniasis vaccine discovery? *Brazilian Journal of Medical and Biological Research*. 38: 979-984.

Castes M., Moros Z., Martinez A., Trujillo D., Castellanos P.L., Randon A.J. and Convit J. (1989). Cell-mediated immunity in localized cutaneous leishmaniasis patients before and after treatment with immunotherapy or chemotherapy. *Parasite Immunology*. 11: 211-222.

Chang K.-P., Chaudhuri G. and Fong D. (1990). Molecular determinants of *Leishmania* virulence. *Annual Review of Microbiology*, 44: 499-529.

Chappuis F., Sundar S., Hailu A., Ghalib H., Rijal S., Peeling R.W., Alvar J. and Boalert M. (2007). Visceral leishmaniasis: what are the needs for diagnosis, treatment and control? *Nature Reviews Microbiology*, S7-S16.

**Cole A.C.E., Cosgrove P.C. and Robinson G.** (1942). A preliminary report of an outbreak of kala-azar in a battalion of King's African Rifles. *Transactions of the Royal Society for Tropical Medicine and Hygiene*, **36**: 25-34.

**Conacher M., Alexander J. and Brewer J.M.** (2000). Niosomes as immunological adjuvants p. 185-205. *In* Uchegbu I.F. (eds). Synthetic surfactant vesicles, International Publishers Distributors Ltd, Singapore.

Conjivaram, V., Gary, J. N., Mary L. W., Martin, W., Robert W. T. and Russel, S. (2002). Leishmaniasis.e Medicine. www.emedicine.com/ped/topic1292.htm.

**Convit J** (1996) Leishmaniasis immunological and clinical aspects and vaccines in Venezuela. *Clinical Dermatology*, **14**: 479–87.

Convit J., Castellanos P.L., Ulrich M., Castes M., Randon A., Pinardi M.E., Rodriquez N., Bloom B.R., Formica S., Valecillos L. and Bretana A. (1989). Immunotherapy of localized, intermediate, and diffuse forms of American cutaneous leishmaniasis. *Journal of Infectious Diseases*, 160: 104-115.

Courtenay O., Quinnell R.J., Garcez L.M., Shaw J.J. and Dye C. (2002). Infectiousness in a cohort of Brazilian dogs: why culling fails to control visceral leishmaniasis in areas of high transmission. *Journal of Infectious Diseases*, 186: 1314–1320.

Croft S.L., Sundar S. and Fairlamb A.H. (2006). Drug Resistance in Leishmaniasis. Clinical Microbiology Reviews, 19:111-126.

Cruz I., Nieto J., Moreno J., Cañavate C., Desjeux P. and Alvar J. (2006). Leishmania/HIV co-infections in the second decade. Indian Journal of Medical Research, 123: 357-388.

Cui L, Rajasekariah GR, Martin S.K. (2001). A nonspecific nucleoside hydrolase from *Leishmania donovani*: implications for purine salvage by the parasite. *Gene*, 280:153-62.

Davies C.R., Kaye P., Croft S.L. and Sundar S. (2003). Leishmaniasis: new approaches to disease control. *British Medical Journal*, **326**: 377–382.

De Krey G.K., Lima H.C. and Titus R.G. (1998). Analysis of the immune responses mice to infection with *Leishmania braziliensis*. *Infection and Immunity*, 66: 827-829.

Desjeux P. (2004). Leishmaniasis. Nature Reviews Microbiology, 2: 692-693.

Feliciangel.M.D., Milena.B., Mazzarri.M.B., Campbell-Lendrum.D., Maroli.M. and Rhaiza Maingon.R (2003). Cutaneous leishmaniasis vector control perspectives using lambdacyhalothrin residual house spraying in El Ingenio, Miranda State, Venezuela. *Transactions of the Royal Society of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene*, 97: 641–646.

Fendall N.R. (1961). The spread of kala-azar in Kenya. East African Medical Journal. 38: 417-419.

Fine P.E.M., Carneiro I.A.M., Milstein J.B. and Clements C.J. (1999). Issues relating to the use of BCG in immunisation preogrammes. Geneva: WHO/V&B/99.23.

Fortier A.H., Mock B.A., Meltzer M.S. and Nacy C.A. (1987). Mycobacterium bovis BCG-induced protection against cutaneous and systemic Leishmania major infections of mice. Infection and Immunity. 55: 1707-1714.

Fowell D.J., Magram J., Turck C.W., Killeen N. and Locksley R.M. (1997). Impaired Th2 subset development in the absence of CD4. *Immunity*, 6: 559-569.

Frommel D. and Lagrange P.H. (1989). BCG: A modifier of immune responses to parasites. *Parasitology Today*, 5: 188-190.

Gamboa-León R., de Souza E.P., Borja-Cabrera G.P., Santos F.N., Myashiro L.M., Pinheiro R.O., Dumonteil E. and Palatnik-de-Sousa C.B. (2006). Immunotherapy against visceral leishmaniasis with the nucleoside hydrolase-DNA vaccine of *Leishmania donovani*. *Vaccine*, 24: 4863-4873.

Garg R. and Dube A. (2006). Animal models for vaccine studies for visceral leishmaniasis. Indian Journal of Medical Research, 123: 439-454.

Garg R., Srivastava J.K., Pal A., Naik S. and Dube A. (2005). Isolation of integral membrane proteins of *Leishmania* promastigotes and evaluation of their prophylactic potential in hamsters against experimental visceral leishmaniasis. *Vaccine*, 23: 1189–1196.

Genaro O., Toledo V.P.C.P., Costa C.A., Hermeto M.V., Afonso L.C.C. and Mayrink W. (1996). Vaccine for prophylaxis and immunotherapy, Brazil. *Clinical Dermatology*, 14: 503-512.

Ghalib H. and Modabber F. (2007). Consultation meeting on the development of therapeutic vaccines for post kala azar dermal leishmaniasis. *Kinetoplastid Disease*, 6: 7.

Ghalib H.W., Piuvezam M.R. and Skeiky Y.A. (1993). Interleukin 10 production correlates with pathology in human Leishmania donovani infections. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 92:324–9.

Ghosh M. and Bandyophadhyay (2003). Present status of antileishmanial vaccines. *Molecular and Cellular Biochemistry*, 253: 199-205.

Gicheru M.M., Olobo J.O., Anjili C.O., Orago A.S., Modabber F. and Scott P. (2001). Vervet monkeys vaccinated with killed *Leishmania major* parasites and interleukin-12 develop a type 1 immune response but are not protected against challenge infection. *Infection* and Immunity, 69: 245-251.

Grimaldi G. F., Moriearty P.L. and Hoff R. (1980). Leishmania mexicana in C3H mice: BCG and levamisole treatment of established infections. Clinical and Experimental Immunology, 41: 237-242.

Guerin P.J., Olliaro P., Sundar S., Boelaert M., Croft S.L., Desjeux P., Wasunna M.K. and Bryceson A.D.M. (2002). Visceral leishmaniasis: current status of control, diagnosis, and treatment, and a proposed research and development agenda. *The Lancet Infectious Diseases*, 2: 494–501.

Gurunathan S., Sacks D.L., Brown D.R., Reiner S.L., Charest H., Glaichenhaus H. and Seder R.A. (1997). Vaccination with DNA encoding the immunodominant LACK parasite antigen confers protective immunity to mice infected with *Leishmania major*. Journal of Experimental Medicine, 186: 1137–1147.

Guthmann J.P., Calmet J., Rosales E., Cruz M., Chang J. and Dedet J.P. (1997) Patients' associations and the control of leishmaniasis in Peru. Bulletin of the World Health Organization, 75: 39-44.

Hadighi R., Mohebali M., Boucher P., Hajjaran H., Khamesipour A. and Ouellette M. (2006). Unresponsiveness to glucantime treatment in Iranian cutaneous leishmaniasis due to drug-resistant *Leishmania tropica* parasites. *Plos Medicine*, **3**: 659-667.

Hailu A., Mudawi M., Royce C. and Wasunna M. (2005). Viseral Leishmaniasis. New Health tools, Plos Medicine 2(7) Dcc; 10, 1371/journal Pmed.00202.

Handman E. (2001). Leishmaniasis. Current status of vaccine development. Clinical Microbiology Reviews, 14: 229-243.

Handman E., Symons F.M., Baldwin T.M., Curtis J.M. and Scheerlinck J.-P.Y. (1995). Protective vaccination with promastigote surface antigen 2 from *Leishmania major* is mediated by a TH1 type of immune response. *Infection and Immunity*, 63:4261–4267.

Hay F.C. and Westwood O.M.R. (2002). Practical immunology, 4<sup>th</sup> Edition. Blackwell publishing, Oxford. 280-281.

Herwaldt B.L. (1999). Leishmaniasis. The Lancet Infectious Disease, 354: 1191-1199.

Howard J.C. (1993). Restrictions on the use of antigenic peptides by the immune system. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA, 90: 3777–3779. Huang F.P., Xu D., Esfandiari E.O., Sands W., Wei X.Q. and Liew F.Y. (1998). Mice defective in Fas are highly susceptible to *Leishmania major* infection despite elevated IL-12 synthesis, strong Th1 responses, and enhanced nitric oxide production. *The Journal of Immunology*, 160: 4143–4147.

Ivens A.C., Peacock C.S., Worthey E.A., Murphy L., Aggarwal G., Berriman M., Sisk E., Rajandream M.-A., Adlem E., Aert R., Anupama A., Apostolou Z., Attipoe P., Bason N., Bauser C. et al. (2005). The genome of the kinetoplastid parasite *Leishmania* major. Science, 309: 436–442.

Joshi P.B., Kelly B.L., Kamhawi S., Sacks D.L. and McMaster W.R. (2002). Targeted gene deletion in *Leishmania major* identifies leishmanolysin (GP63) as a virulence factor. *Molecular and Biochemical Parasitology*, **120**: 33-40.

Joshi P.B., Sacks D.L., Modi G. and McMaster W.R. (1998). Targeted gene deletion of *Leishmania major* genes encoding developmental stage-specific leishmanolysin (GP63). *Molecular Microbiology*, 27: 519-530.

Kamhawi. S. (2000) The biological and immunomodulatory properties of sand fly saliva and its role in the establishment of Leishmania infections. *Microbes and Infection* 2. 1765–1773, 2000.

Kato H., Uezato H., Gomez A.E., Terayama Y., Calvopiña M., Iwata. H., and Hashiguchi.Y. (2007). Establishment of a Mass Screening Method of Sand Fly Vectors for Leishmania Infection by Molecular Biological Methods. *American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene*, 77: 324–329.

Kedzierski L., Zhu Y. and Handman.E (2006). Leishmania vaccines: progress and problems. *Parasitology* 133: S87-S112

Kemp M., Hey A.S., Kurtzhals J.A. (1994). Dichotomy of the human T cell response to *Leishmania* antigens. I. Th1-like response to Leishmania major promastigote antigens in individuals recovered from cutaneous leishmaniasis. *Clinical Experimental Immunology*, **96**:410–415.

Kemp K., Kemp M. and Kharazmi A. (1999). Leishmania-specific T cells expressing interferon-gamma (IFN- $\gamma$ ) and IL-10 upon activation are expanded in individuals cured of visceral leishmaniasis. *Clinical Experimental Immunology*, **116**:500–504.

Kenney R.T., Sacks D.L., Sypek J.P., Vilela L., Gam A.A. and Evans-Davis K. (1999). Protective immunity using recombinant human IL-12 and alum as adjuvants in a primate model of cutaneous leishmaniasis. *The Journal of Immunology*, 163: 4481–4488.

Khalil E.A., El Hassan A.M., Zijlstra E.E., Mukhtar M.M., Ghalib H.W., Musa B., Ibrahim M.E., Kamil A.A., Elsheikh M., Babiker A. and Modabber F. (2000). Autoclaved *Leishmania major* vaccine for prevention of visceral leishmaniasis: a randomised, double-blind. BCG-controlled trial in Sudan. *The Lancet Infectious Diseases*, 356: 1565-1569.

Khamesipour A., Dowlati Y., Asilian A., Hashemi-Fesharki R., Javadi A., Noazin S. and

Hunng F.P., Xu D., Estandiari E.O., Sondo W. W. L.O. Law F.V. (1998), Must defective in Fas are highly susceptible to synthesis, strong Th1 responses, and Immunology, 160: 4143-4147.

Ivens A.C., Pencock C.S., Worthey E.A., Morphy L., Aggarran G., Berrinnen M., Sink E., Rajandream M.-A., Adlem E., Aert H., Anapama A., Apostolica Z., Attipus P., Bason N., Bauser C. et al. (2005). The genome of the kinetophastic parasite Leannance major, Science, 309: 436–442.

Joshi P.B., Kelly B.L., Kamhuwi S., Socha D.L. and Michlanter W.R. (1981) gene deletion in *Leishmania major* identifies teichman lyin (GPS1) in a systemic bactor Midecular and Biochemical Parasitology, 120-33-60.

Joshi P.B., Sacks D.L., Modi G. and McMaster W.R. (1998). Leishmania major genes encoding developmental mage the humanitystic (GPA). Molecular Microbiology, 27: 519-530.

Kamhawi. S. (2000) The biological and immunomodulatory properties of sand fly salive and its role in the establishment of Leishmania infections. Microfev and Infections 2, 1765–1773, 2000.

Kato H., Uezato H., Gomez A.E., Terayama Y., Calvapilla M., H. H. and Hashiguchi.Y. (2007) Establishment of a Mass Screening Method of Nand Fly Vectors for Leishmania Infection by Molecular Biological Methods. Investor Americal Tropical Medicine and Hygiene, 77: 324-329.

Kedzierski L., Zhu Y. and Handman I (2015) Londmans and problems, Parasitology 133 SE7-S112

Kemp M., Hey A.S., Kurtzhals J.A. (1994) Dichonson of the human T cell resonance Leischmunia antigens. I. Th1-like response to Leischmania major promatiges individuals recovered from cutaneous leischmanianis. Climeted Experimental 96 410-415.

Kentp K., Kemp M. and Kharnzmi A. (1999) Lendmania specific 1 interferon-gamma (IFN-y) and IL-10 upon activation are visceral leishmaniasis. *Clinical Experimental* 116 500 500

Kenney R.T., Sacks D.L., Sypek J.P., Vilelo L. Gan A.A. and Room-Davis K. Protective immunity using recombinant human 11-12 and alum as adherents to printing model of cutaneous leishmaniasis. *The Journal* 163, 6481, 6488

Khulil E.A., El Hassan A.M., Zijhtra I.J., Makhar M.M., Ghalib H.W., H., Ibrahim M.E., Kamil A.A., Etherikh M., and F. (2000) Autoclaved Leishmania major randomised, double-blind, BCG-controlled with The 356; 1565-1569.

Khamesipour A., Dowlati Y., Asilion A., Heshems Feshorbi R., Javadi A., Nearin S. and

Modabber F. (2005). Leishmanization: use of an old method for evaluation of candidate vaccines against leishmaniasis. *Vaccine*, 23: 3642-3648.

Khamesipour A., Dowlati Y., Asilian A., Hashemi-Fesharki R., Javadi A., Noazin S. and Khamesipour A., Rafati S., Davoudi N., Maboudi F. and Modabber F. (2006). Leishmaniasis vaccine candidates for development: A global overview. *Indian Journal of Medical Research*, 123: 423-438.

Kishore K, Kumar V, Kesari S, Dinesh D.S., Kumar A.J., P. Das. and Bhattacharya S.K. (2006). Vector control in leishmaniasis. *Indian Journal of Medical Research*, 123: 467-472.

Kumar V, Kesari S.K., Sinha N.K., Palit A., Ranjan A., Kishore K., (1995). Field trail of an ecological approach for the control of *Phlebotomus argentipes* using mud & lime plaster. *Indian Journal of Medical Research*, 101: 154-6.

Kungu A., Mutinga M.J. and Ngoka J.M. (1972) Cutaneous leishmaniasis in Kenya. *East African Medical Journal* 48: 458- 465.

LaFon S.W., Nelson.D.J., Berens.R.L., and Marr J.J. (1982) Purine and pyrimidine salvage pathways in Leishmania donovani. *Biochemical Pharmacology*, 31:231-8.

Lamm D.L., Blumenstein B.A. and Crawford E.D. (1991). "A randomized trial of intravesical doxorubicin and immunotherapy with bacille Calmette-Guerin for transitional-cell carcinoma of the bladder". *New England Journal of Medicine* 325: 1205–9.

Launois P., Tacchini-Cottier F., Parra-Lopez C. and Louis J.A. (1997). Cytokines in parasitic diseases: the example of cutaneous leishmaniasis. *International Reviews of Immunology*, 17: 157-180.

Latifynia.A. and Hazrati.M.S (2008) Safety and Toxicity of a New Formulated Leishmania major Preliminary Vaccine in Animal Model Balb/c and Small White Conventional Laboratory Mice. *Türkiye Parazitoloji Dergisi*, **32**: 103-108.

Liarte D., Mendonca I., Luz F., Abreu E., Mello G., Farias T., Ferreira A., Millington M., and Costa C. (2001). QBC1 for the diagnosis of human and canine American visceral leishmaniasis: preliminary data. *Revista da Sociedade Brasileira de Medicina Tropical*, 34: 577–581.

Lima H.C., Bleyenberg J. and Titus R.G. (1997). A simple method for quantifying *Leishmania* in tissues of infected animals. *Parasitology Today*, 13: 80-82.

Magill A.J., Grogl M., Gasser R.A., Wellington S. and Oster C.N. (1993). Viscerotropic leishmaniasis caused by *Leishmania tropica* in soldiers returning from Operation Desert Storm. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 328: 1383–1387.

**Mahmoodi M., Rajabalian S., Fekri A. and Esfandiarpour I.** (2005). Evaluation of *in vitro* production of IFN- $\gamma$ , IL-10, IL-12 and IL-13 by blood cells in patients with cutaneous leishmaniasis lesions. *Iranian Journal of Allergy, Asthma and Immunology*, **4**: 15-21.

Marlet M.V., Sang D.K., Ritmeijer K., Muga R.O., Onsongo J. and Davidson R.N. (2003). Emergence or re-emergence of visceral leishmaniasis in areas of Somalia, northeastern Kenya, and south-eastern Ethiopia in 2000-01. *Transactions of the Royal Society for Tropical Medicine and Hygiene*, 97: 515-518.

Maroli M. and Khoury C. (2006) Current Approaches to the Prevention and Control of Leishmaniasis Vectors. *Veterinary Research Communications*, 49–52.

Marr J.J., Berens R.L. and Nelson D.J. (1978) Purine metabolism in Leishmania donovani and Leishmania braziliensis. *Biochemica et Biophysica Acta*, 544:360–71.

Marshall B.G., Chambers M.A., Wangoo A., Shaw R.J. and Young D.B. (1997). Production of tumor necrosis factor and nitric oxide by macrophages infected with live and dead mycobacteria and their suppression by an interleukin-10-secreting recombinant. *Infection and Immunity*, **65**:1931–1935.

Martin S.K., Thuita-Harun., Adoyo-Adoyo M. and Wasunna K.M (1998) A diagnostic ELISA for visceral leishmaniasis, based on antigen from media conditioned by *Leishmania donovani* promastigotes. *Annals of Tropical Medicine and Parasitology*, 92: 571-577.

Masina S., Gicheru M.M., Demotz S.O., and Fasel N.J. (2003). Protection against cutaneous leishmaniasis in outbred vervet monkeys, using a recombinant histone H1 antigen. *The Journal of Infectious Diseases*, 188: 1250-1257.

Matsumoto H., Suzuki K., Tsuyuguchi K., Tanaka.R.A., Yamakoto.K., Sasada.M and Kuze.F. (1997) Interleukin- 12 gene expression in human monocyte-derived macrophages stimulated with *Mycobacterium bovis* BCG: cytokine regulation and effect of NK cells. *Infection and Immunity*, **65**:4405–4410.

Matzinger P. (1998). An innate sense of danger. Seminars in Immunology, 10:399-415.

Mebrahtu Y.B., Lawyer P.G., Pamba H., Koech D., Perkins P.V., Roberts C.R., Were J.B. and Hendricks L.D. (1992). Biochemical characterization and zymodeme classification of *Leishmania* isolates from patients, vectors, and reservoir hosts in Kenya. *American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene*, 47: 852-892.

Miller T.K., Champa Patel C., and Selitrennikoff C.P. (2007) Construction of a Saccharomyces cerevisiae strain expressing the Leishmania major nucleoside hydrolase gene. International Journal of Antimicrobial Agents, 29:103–107.

Misra A., Dube A., Srivastava B., Sharma P., Srivastava J.K., Katiyar J.C. and Naik S. (2001). Successful vaccination against *Leishmania donovani* infection in Indian langur using alum-precipitated autoclaved *Leishmania major* with BCG. *Vaccine*, 14: 3485–3492.

Mitchell G.F. and Handman E. (1986). The glycoconjugate derived from a *Leishmania* major receptor for macrophages is a suppressogenic. disease promoting antigen in murine cutaneous leishmaniasis. *Parasite Immunology*. 8: 255–263.

Moskowitz P.F and Kurban A.K (1999) Treatment of Cutaneous Leishmaniasis: Retrospectives and Advances for the 21st Century. *Clinics in Dermatology*, 17:305–315.

Mosmann T.R and Coffman R.L, (1989) TH1 and TH2 Cells: Different Patterns of Lymphokine Secretion Lead to Different Functional Properties. *Annual Reviews of Immunology*, 7: 145-173.

Mosolits S, Nilsson B, Mellstedt H. (2005). "Towards therapeutic vaccines for colorectal carcinoma: a review of clinical trials". *Expert Review of Vaccines*, 4: 329–50.

Mottram J.C., Coombs G.H. and Alexander J. (2004). Cysteine peptidases as virulence factors of *Leishmania*. *Current Opinion in Microbiology*, 7: 375-381.

Mougneau E., Altare F., Wakil A.E., Zheng S., Coppola T., Wang Z-E., Waldmann R., Locksley R.M. and Glaichenhaus N. (1995). Expression cloning of a protective *Leishmania* antigen. *Science*, **268**: 563–566.

Muller I., Pedrazzini T., Kropf P., Louis J. and Milon G. (1991). Establishment of resistance to *Leishmania major* infection in susceptible BALB/c mice requires parasite-specific CD8+ T cells. *International Immunology*, 3: 587–597.

Murray H.W. (2001). Clinical and experimental advances in treatment of visceral leishmaniasis. Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy, 45: 2185-2197.

Murray H.W., Berman J.D., Davies R.C. and Saravia N.G. (2005). Advances in leishmaniasis. The Lancet Infectious Diseases, 366: 1561-1577.

Mutinga M.J. (1975) The animal reservoir of cutaneous leishmaniasis on Mt. Elgon, Kenya. *East African Medical Journal*, **52**: 142-151.

Mutinga M.J., Massamba N.N., Basimike M., Kamau C.C., Amimo F.A., Onyido A.E., Omogo D.M., Kyai F.M. and Wachira D.W. (1994). Cutaneous leishmaniasis in Kenya: Sergentomyia garnhami (Diptera Psychodidae), a possible vector of Leishmania major in Kitui District: a new focus of the disease. East African Medical Journal, 71: 424-428.

Nabors G.S. and Farrell J.P. (1994). Site-Specific Immunity to Leishmania major in SWR Mice: the Site of Infection Influences Susceptibility and Expression of the Antileishmanial Immune Response. *American Society for Microbiology*, **62**: 3655-3662.

Noben-Trauth N., Lira R., Nagase H., Paul W.E. and Sacks D.L. (2003). The relative contribution of IL-4 receptor signaling and IL-10 susceptibility to *Leishmania major*. The Journal of Immunology, 170: 5152-5158.

Noben-Trauth.N. (2000) Susceptibility to Leishmania major infection in the absence of IL-4. Immunology Letters, 75:41-44 Noazin S., Modabberb F., KhamesipourA., Smith.P.G., Moultone L., Kiumars N., Sharifi I., Bernali.V.D., Antunesj.M.F.C., Kienya.P and Tannerk.M. (2008). First generation leishmaniasis vaccines: A review of field efficacy trials. *Vaccine*, 26: 6759–6767.

Olobo J.O., Anjili C.O., Gicheru M.M., Mbati P.A., Kariuki T.M., Githure J.I., Koech D.K. and McMaster W.R. (1995). Vaccination of vervet monkeys against cutaneous leishmaniasis using recombinant *Leishmania major* surface glycoprotein (gp63). *Veterinary Parasitology*, **60**: 199-212.

Papadopoulou B., Roy G., Breton M., Kündig C., Dumas C., Fillion I. Singh A.K., Olivier M. and Ouellette M. (2002). Reduced infectivity of a *Leishmania donovani* biopterin transporter genetic mutant and its use as an attenuated strain for vaccination. *Infection and Immunity*, 70: 62-68.

**Piscopo T.V. and Mallia A.C.** (2006). Leishmaniasis. *Postgraduate Medical Journal*, 82: 649-657.

**Preston P.M. and Dumonde D.C.** (1976). Experimental cutaneous leishmaniasis. V. Protective immunity in subclinical and selfhealing infection in the mouse. *Clinical and Experimental Immunology*, 23: 126–138.

Rafati S., Baba A.A., Bakhshayesh M. and Vafa M. (2000). Vaccination of BALB/c mice with *Leishmania major* amastigote-specific cysteine proteinase. *Clinical and Experimental Immunology*, **120**: 134-138.

Reiner, S. L., and R. M. Locksley. (1995). The regulation of immunity to Leishmania major. Annual Review of Immunology, 13:151-156.

Reithinger R., Dujardin J.C., Louzir H., Pirmez C., Alexander B. and Brooker S. (2007). Cutaneous leishmaniasis. *The Lancet Infectious Diseases*, 7: 581–596.

Requena J.M., Iborra S., Carrión J., Alonso C. and Soto M. (2004). Recent advances in vaccines for leishmaniasis. *Expert Opinion on Biological Therapy*, **4**: 1505–1517.

Rittig M.G and Bogdan C. (2000) Leishmania-host-cell interaction: complexities and alternative views, *Parasitology Today*, 16: 292–297, 2000.

**Roberts M.T.M.** (2006). Current understandings on the immunology of leishmaniasis and recent developments in prevention and treatment. *British Medical Bulletin*, **75 and 76:** 115–130.

**Rogers M.E., Chance M.L. and Bates P.A.** (2002). The role of promastigote secretory gel in the origin and transmission of the infective stage of *Leishmania mexicana* by the sandtly *Lutzomyia longipalpis*. *Parasitology*, **124**: 495–507.

**Rogers.A.K and Titus.R.G** (2004). Characterization of the early cellular immune response to *Leishmania major* using peripheral blood mononuclear cells from *Leishmania*-naive humans *American Journal of Tropical. Medicine and Hygine***71**: 568–576. Roussel M, Nacher M, and Fremont G., Rotureau B., Clyti E., Sainte-Marie D., Carme, B., Pradinaud R and Couppie P. (2006) Comparison between one and two injections of pentamidine isethionate. at 7 mg/kg in each injection. in the treatment of cutaneous leishmaniasis in French Guyana. Annals Tropical Medicine and Parasitology; 100: 307–14.

Russell D.G. and Alexander J. (1988). Effective immunization against cutaneous leishmaniasis with defined membrane antigens reconstituted into liposomes. *The Journal of Immunology*, 140: 1274–1279.

Ryan J.R., Smithyman A.M., Rajasekariah G.H., Hochberg L., Stiteler J.M. and Martin S.K. (2002). Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay based on soluble promastigotes antigen detects immunoglobulin M and IgG antibodies in sera from cases of visceral and cutaneous leishmaniasis. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, **40**: 1037-1043.

Sacks D. and Noben-Trauth N. (2002). The immunology of susceptibility and resistance to *Leishmania major* in mice. *Nature Reviews Immunology*, 2: 845-858.

Sacks D.L. and Perkins (1984). Identification of an infective stage of *Leishmania* promastigotes. *Science*, 223: 1417-1419.

Saha S., Mondal S., Banerjee A., Ghose J., Bhowmick S. and Ali N. (2005) Immune responses in kala-azar. *Indian Journal of medical Research*, 123: 245-266.

Salam M.A. (2004). Leishmaniasis: Biological understanding and beyond. *Pakistan Journal of Medical Science*, 20: 164-168.

Saliba. E.K and Oumeish Y.O. (1999) Reservoir hosts of cutaneous Leishmaniasis. *Clinics in Dermatology*, 17: 275–277.

Sang D.K. and Chance.M.L. (1993) Cutaneous leishmaniasis due to *Leishmania aethiopica*, on Mount Elgon, Kenya. *Annals of Tropical Medicine and Parasitology*. 87: 349-357.

Santarém N., Silvestre R., Tavares J., Silva M., Cabral S., Maciel J. and Cordeiro-da-Silva A. (2007). Immune response regulation by leishmania secreted and nonsecreted antigens. *Journal Biomedicine and Biotechnology*, doi:10.1155/2007/85154

Schaefer.K.U., Kurtzhals.J.A., Sherwood.J.A., Githure.J.I., Kager.A. and Muller.A.S.(1994) Epidemiology and clinical manifestations of visceral and cutaneous leishmaniasis in Baringo, Rift Valley, Kenya. A literature review. *Tropical Geographical Medicine*, 4:129-33.

Schönian G, Akuffo H, Lewin S, Maasho. K., Nyle'n S, Pratlong .F., Carol L. Eisenberger.C.L., Lionel F. Schnur. L.F., and Presber. W. (2000) Genetic variability within the species *Leishmania aethiopica* does not correlate with clinical variations of cutaneous leishmaniasis. *Molecular and Biochemical Parasitology*, 106: 239–248.

Scott P., Natovitz P., Coffman R.L., Pearce E. and Sher A. (1988). Immunoregulation of cutaneous leishmaniasis. T cell lines that transfer protective immunity or exacerbation belong

to different T helper subsets and respond to distinct parasite antigens. Journal of Experimental Medicine, 168: 1675-1684.

Selvapandiyan A., Duncan R., Debrabant A., Lee N., Salotra G.S.P. and Nakhasi H.L. (2006). Genetically modified live attenuated parasites as vaccines for leishmaniasis. *Indian Journal of Medical Research*, 123: 455-466.

Serarslan G. and Atik E. (2005). Expression of inducible nitric oxide synthase in human cutaneous leishmaniasis. *Molecular and Cellular Biochemistry*, 280: 147-149.

Setia MS, Steinmaus C, Ho CS, Rutherford GW. (2006). "The role of BCG in prevention of leprosy: a meta-analysis". *Lancet Infectious Diseases*, 6: 162–70.

Sharifi I., FeKri A.R., Aflatonian M.R., Khamesipour A., Nadim A., Mousavi M.R., Momeni A.Z., Dowlati Y., Godal T., Zicker F., Smith P.G. and Modabber F. (1998). Randomised vaccine trial of single dose of killed *Leishmania major* plus BCG against anthroponotic cutaneous leishmaniasis in Bam, Iran. *Lancet*, 351: 1540–1543.

Singh S. (2006). New developments in diagnosis of leishmaniasis. Indian Journal of Medical Research, 123: 311-330.

Singh S. and Sivakumar R. (2003). Recent advances in the diagnosis of leishmaniasis. Journal of Postgraduate Medicine, 49: 55-60.

Sjölander A., Baldwin T.M., Curtis J.M., Lövgren Bengtsson K. and Handman E. (1998). Vaccination with recombinant parasite surface antigen 2 from *Leishmania major* induces a Th1 type of immune response but does not protect against infection. *Vaccine*, 16: 2077–2084.

Skeiky Y.A., Kennedy M., Kaufman D., Borges M.M., Guderian J.A., Scholler J.K., Ovendale P.J., Picha K.S., Morrissey P.J., Grabstein K.H., Campos-Neto A. and Reed S.G. (1998). LeIF: a recombinant *Leishmania* protein that induces an IL-12-mediated Th1 cytokine profile. *The Journal of Immunology*, 161: 6171–6179.

Soong L., Duboise S.M., Kima P. and McMahon-Pratt D. (1995). Leishmania pifanoi amastigote antigens protect mice against cutaneous leishmaniasis. Infection and Immunity, 63: 3559-3566.

Soto J., Arana B.A., Toledo J., Rizzo N., Vega J.C., Diaz A., Luz M., Gutierrez P., Arboleda M., Berman J.D., Junge K., Engel J. and Sindermann H. (2004). Miltefosine for new world cutaneous leishmaniasis. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, 38: 1266–1272.

Spath G.F., Lye L.F., Segawa H., Sacks D.L., Turco S.J. and Beverley S.M. (2003). Persistence without pathology in phosphoglycan deficient *Leishmania major*. *Science*, 301: 1241-1243.

Spitzer N., Jardim A., Lippert D. and Olafson R.W. (1999). Long-term protection of mice against *Leishmania major* with a synthetic peptide vaccine. *Vaccine*, **17**. 1298-1300.

Stacey K.J. and Blackwell J.M. (1999). Immunostimulatory DNA as an adjuvant in vaccination against *Leishmania major*. Infection and Immunity, 67: 3719-3726.

Tanghe A., J Content., J. P. Van Vooren., F. Portaels, and K. Huygen (2001). "Protective efficacy of a DNA vaccine encoding antigen 85A from Mycobacterium bovis BCG against Buruli ulcer". *Infection and Immunity*, **69**: 5403–11.

**Taswell C.** (1987). Limiting dilution assays for the separation. characterization, and quantification of biologically active particles and their clonal progeny. *In* T. G. Pretlow and T. P. Pretlow (ed.), Cell separation: methods and selected applications. Academic Press, Orlando, Fla, pp. 109-145.

Titus R.G., Gueiros-Filho F.J., de Freitas L.A., and Beverley S.M. (1995). Development of a safe live *Leishmania* vaccine line by gene replacement. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* USA, 92:10267–10271.

**Tonui W.K., Mbati P.A., Anjili C.O., Orago A.S., Turco S.J., Githure J.I. and Koech D.K.** (2001). Transmission blocking vaccine studies in leishmaniasis. I: Lipophosphoglycan (LPG) is a promising transmission blocking vaccine candidate against cutaneous leishmaniasis *East African Medical Journal*, **78**: 84-89.

Tonui W.K. (1999). Leishmania transmission blocking vaccines: a review. East African Medical Journal, 76: 93-96.

Tonui W.K. (2006). Situational analysis of leishmaniases research in Kenya. African Journal of Health Sciences, 13: 7-21.

**Tonui W.K.** and **Titus R.G.** (2006). *Leishmania major* soluble exo-antigens (*Lm*SEAgs) protect neonatal BALB/C mice from a subsequent challenge with *L. major* and stimulate cytokine production by *Leishmania*-naive human peripheral blood mononuclear cells. *Journal of Parasitology*, **92**: 971-976.

Tonui W.K., Mpoke S.S., Orago A.S., Turco S.J., Mbati P.A. and Mkoji G.M. (2004). Leishmania donovani-derived lipophosphoglycan plus BCG induces a Th1 type immune response but does not protect Syrian golden hamsters (*Mesocricetus auratus*) and BALB/c mice against Leishmania donovani. Onderstepoort Journal of Veterinary Research, 70: 255-263.

Tonui W.K., Santiago J.M., Hochberg L., Chan A.S.T., Mbow L.M., Ryan J.R., Martin S.K. and Titus R.G. (2004). Immunization with *Leishmania major* secreted/excreted (exo) antigens protects susceptible mice against challenge infection with *L. major*. *Infection and Immunity*, **72**: 5654-5661.

**Tonui.W.K.** (2003) "Vaccination of BALB/c mice with *Leishmania donovani* derived lipophosphoglycan does not confer crossprotection to *L. major* infections," *East African Medical Journal*, **80**, 5:260–263.

Uzonna J.E., Spath G.F., Beverley S.M. and Scott P. (2004) Vaccination with phosphoglycan-deficient *Leishmania major* protects highly susceptible mice from virulent challenge without inducing a strong Th1 response. *The Journal of Immunology*, 172: 3793-3797.

Veras P., Brodskyn C., Balestieri F., Freitas L., Ramos A., Queiroz A., Barral A., Beverly S. and Barral-Netto M. (1999). A dhfr-ts-Leishmania major knock-out mutant cross-protects against Leishmania amazonensis. Memorias do Instituto Oswaldo Cruz 94: 491-496.

Webb J.R., A. Campos-Neto A., Ovendale P.J., Martin T.I., Stromberg E.J., Badaro R. and Reed G. (1998). Human and murine immune responses to a novel Leishmania major recombinant protein encoded by members of a multicopy gene family. Infection and Immuninity, 66:3279–3289.

Weina P.J., Neafie R.C., Wortmann G., Polhemus M. and Aronson N.E. (2004) Old world leishmaniasis: an emerging infection among deployed US military and civilian workers. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, 39: 1674–80.

Weintraub J. and Weinbaum F. (1977). The effect of BCG on experimental cutaneous leishmaniasis in mice. *The Journal of Immunology*, 118: 2288-2290.

World Health Organization (2006). EB118.R3. Agenda item 5.1. 30 May 2006. Control of leishmaniasis. The Executive Board, report by the secretariat. (www.who.int/gb/ebwha/pdf\_files/EB118/B118\_R3-en.pdf)

World Health Organization (2007). Sixieth world Health Assembly Provisional agenda item 12.3 page 1-5.

www.pdlhealth.mil

www.WHO/TRD/kuzoe

Xu D. and Liew F.Y. (1994). Genetic vaccination against leishmaniasis. Vaccine, 12: 1534-1546.

Zilberstein D. and Shapira M. (1994). The role of pH and temperature in the development of Leishmania parasite. Annual Reviews of Microbiology, 48: 449-70.

Zijlstra E.E. and El-Hassan A.M. (2001). Visceral leishmaniasis. Transactions of the Royal Society of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene, 95 (Suppl 1): S27–58.

Zijlstra E.E., Musa A.M., Khalil E.A.G., El Hassan E.M. and El-Hassan A.M. (2003). Post-kala-azar dermal leishmaniasis. *The Lancet Infectious Diseases*, 3: 87-98.

### Appendix

## KENYA MEDICAL RESEARCH INSTITUTE (KEMRI) LEISHMANIA LAB

#### STANDARD OPERATING PROCEDURE (S.O.P)

PROJECT TITLE: Determination of the adjuvant potential of Bacille Calmette Guerin with culture derived *leishmania major* soluble exo-antigen.

PURPOSE: Preparation of *Leishmania major* soluble excreted/secreted (exo) antigens *Lm*SEAgs for immunization of mice.

#### PROTOCAL

1. Grow Leishmania promastigotes in normal supplemented media (Shneiders's

Drosophila Insect medium supplement with 20% FBS- Heat inactivated) at 26%C to

mid log at a density of 10<sup>9</sup> cells/ml.

- 2. Pellet parasite and wash 6 times in XOM medium.
- 3. Resuspend in XOM to a final density of promastigotes/ml.
- 4. Incubate at 26°C in a roller tube with 0.01% Tween 80 (Sigma) for 72 h
- 5. Centrifuge at 9000 r. p. m for 30 min and collect supernatant.
- Determine relative protein concentration of soluble antigens at OD 280nm Store at 4°C

NB medium consist of RPIM 1640 consisting of D-xylose at 0.076mM, Hepes buffer at 25mM, L- glutamine and sodium bicarbonate at 30mM without phenol red.

#### Title: Cell cultures for proliferation and cytokine assays

Objective: To determine cell proliferation and cytokine production by proliferated cells

Materials and methods

#### Requirements:

-Immunized mice (Two each from groups immunized LmSEAgs. LmSEAgs+BCG, BCG

alone and phosphate buffered saline (PBS).

-Sterile wire mesh

-Sterile RPMI wash media

-Sterile complete RPMI supplemented with 5% FBS

-Sterile Petri dishes

-Ficoll-paque

-Sterile syringe plunger

-Sterile 15 ml centrifuge tubes

-Microscope

-Haemocytometer

-Trypan blue

- 96 well plates

-Soluble Leishmania antigen 100 µg/ml

-Concanavalin A mitogen (10 µg/ml).

Procedure

#### a) Preparation of splenocytes

1. Sacrifice two BALB/c mice from each experimental group by CO2 asphyxiation

2. Excise spleens aseptically through a fine wire mesh using a syringe plunger

3. Collect crushed spleen into sterile Petri dishes containing 5-7 m RPMI wash media

- 4. Allow cells to stand in ice for 5-10 min for sedimentary of changes
- 5. Transfer the upper portion of the medium containing the uplenocytes using 1ml pipelie, to a 15 ml sterile centrifuge tube.
- 6. Wet walls of a 15ml centrifuge tube with RPMI wash containing 5% I BS
- 7. Remove RPMI and add 3 ml of thoroughly well mixed Ficoli-Paque™ PLUS to a 15 ml tabe (mix Ficoli-Paque™ PLUS (Ficoli) thoroughly before use by inverting the buttle several times).
- 8. Carefully layer cell suspension (max of 500 x 10<sup>4</sup> cells per gradient in 5ml of wash containing 5% FBS) over Ficoll being careful to minimize mixing with Ficoll.
- Centrifuge the cell suspension at 400 X g for 30 min and wash cells once again in RPMI medium.
- 10. Remove and discard upper plasma layer without disturbing the Plasma-FicoII Interface
- 11. Remove and retain lymphocytes at the plasma-Ficoll interface without disturbing the erythrocyte/granulocyte pellet.
- 12. Wash mononuclear cells once with medium at between 1500-2500 rpm
- 13. Count cells using a small aliquot of cell suspension in Neubeur chamber and Trypan blue exclusion.

# b) Dispensing and culturing of lymphocytes

1. Make cell suspension containing 2 x 10<sup>6</sup> viable cells/ mL in culture media containing 5%

- FBS
- 2. Dispense the cells at the rate of 100 µl per well in 96 well flat bottomed times culture plates in triplicate for each of the experimental groups
- 3. Culture cells from each experimental group with either 10 µg/ml of 100 µl of Con A. 100 µg/mL of LmSEAgs and medium alone.

- 4. Incubate cells in a humidified CO<sub>2</sub> incubator (5%) at 37 °C for 48h.
- 5. Harvest supernatants from each of the triplicate wells of Con A. LmSEAgs and medium alone for each of the experimental groups and pooled. They were then stored at --20 °C till assayed using a flow cytometer (FACSCalibur<sup>TM</sup>).

# c) Cell proliferation assay using MTT [3-(4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2,5diphenyltetrazolium bromide

1. Add 100  $\mu$ l of 5 mg/ml of MTT solution to all wells of 48 h cultured lymphocytes and incubate for 4 h at 37  $^{\circ}$ C (formazan crystals will be formed at the bottom of each well).

- 2. Pipette out 100 µl of the spent medium along with suspension of cultured wells
- 3. Add 100  $\mu$ l of dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) to all wells and pipette thoroughly to dissolve the dark blue crystals.

4. After a few minutes read the plates at room temperature using an ELISA reader at 540nm wavelength

5. Read plates normally within 1 hour of adding DMSO

6. Calculate cell proliferation as stimulation index

Stimulation Index = A540 nm Stimulated lymphocytes

A540 nm unstimulated lymphocytes

Where A540 = Absorbance at 540 nm